PLANNING COMMITTEE & FINANCE COMMITTEE
TUESDAY, JUNE 7, 2022, 7:00 PM
COUNCIL CHAMBERS
HURLEY BUILDING, 205 SALTONSTALL STREET
VIRTUAL: https://us06web.zoom.us/j/89079597597
Planning Committee:

Thomas Lyon, Chair
Nick Cutri
Steve Uebbing
Dan Unrath

1. Special Event- Race for the Rest of Us
The Canandaigua Rotary Club has proposed a new special event called “The Race for the Rest of Us”.
This 0.5 mile race/walk would take place from the Muar House and end at the New York Kitchen.
Participants will run/walk along Lakeshore Drive and Kershaw Park and engaging various restaurant
and/or breweries collimating with a cocktail party which will also coincide with the Rotary Clubs
annual raffle drawing. The event is scheduled for September 10th from 11 AM to 2 PM
2. Redevelopment of 267 South Main Street
267 South Main Street is a former motor vehicle service station that required a partnership between
the City, New York Environmental Protection and Spill Compensation Fund and the New York State
Department of Environmental Conservation to remediate the site of contamination resulting from its
past use and prepare it for redevelopment. Since the remediation, the City has attempted to partner
with a private developer to develop the site in accordance with the City’s Comprehensive Plan:
 Multiple-story building with commercial uses on the ground floor and commercial,
residential and/or office uses on the upper floors. Or a single-story commercial building
designed to appear as a multi-story building.
 Improvement to the aesthetics of the area and integration of the site with the
Downtown.
 Enhanced pedestrian safety and traffic safety
Attached to the agenda is a redevelopment plan for the site. A representative from the developer will
be in attendance to present and answer any questions. If the Committee approves, the City Council
would need to adopt a resolution approving the preliminary redevelopment plan which would subject
to completing the Planning Commission review and approval process. The City Council would also
need to hold a public hearing on the redevelopment plan prior to the sale of the property.
Finance Committee:

Steve Uebbing, Chair
Nick Cutri
Thomas Lyon
Dan Unrath

1. 2021 Audited Financial Statement
The unaudited 2021 financial statements were presented at the Finance Committee meeting held
March 1, 2022. The City’s independent audit has been completed and a representative from Raymond
F. Wagner, CPA, P.C. a division of Mengal, Metzger, Barr & Co., LLP will be at the meeting to review
the highlights of the 2021 audit.

As residents, city staff and appointed & elected officials of the City of Canandaigua,
our decisions and actions will be guided by these Core Values: Responsive, Participatory Governance; Caring & Respect;
Integrity; Heritage; Stewardship; and Continuous Improvement.

2. Grant Writing Proposal – CFA for Park Building Redevelopment
Recently, HBT Architects in coordination with M/E Engineering to assess existing buildings within
Northeast, Baker, Sonnenberg, Jefferson, Kershaw and City Pier Parks with the goal of gaining a better
understanding of current conditions, required critical maintenance and updates, and the associated
costs with implementing any recommendations/improvements. The report outlined numerous issues
relative to our parks buildings and recommended extensive renovations or new build options that
would enable the City to provide the community with modern recreational/parks facilities that can be
utilized on a year-round basis. The New York State Office of Parks, Recreation and Historic
Preservation Environmental Protection Fund Grants Program for Parks, Preservation and Heritage
(EPF) provides funding for improvements to parks up to 50% of the total eligible project (75% in highpoverty areas). The City Manager requested a proposal from and MRB Group provided a proposal to
write three EPF grant applications for the design and rebuild of the Baker Park Building, design and
rebuild of the Sonnenberg Park Building; and renovation of the Jefferson Park Building at a total cost
of $9,000. The City Manager recommends appropriating $9,000 from the Parks and Open Space
Reserve to fund the grant writing.
3. CDBG Planning Grant Application
City Staff has been exploring grant opportunities and is recommending pursuing a CDBG Community
Planning grant to hire an engineer to assess our water system (treatment plant and distribution system)
and prepare a preliminary engineering report that identifies needs, recommendations for future
improvements and cost estimates for such improvements. The report would then serve as the basis for
planning and budgeting for future capital improvement projects and could be used to apply for grant
funding such as the CDBG grant related to public infrastructure and/or the WIIA grant which require
a preliminary engineering report as part of the grant application. Larson Design Group has proffered
to assist with the grant writing and application as a no cost business development effort and with no
expectation or guarantee of any future work. The grant application would be for $50,000 that would
require a $2,500 local match for a total project of $52,500. As with CDBG grants in the past, a public
hearing and resolution authorizing the application is required.

Next Meeting: July 5, 2022
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Rainaldi Brothers Inc.
Proposal for the City of Canandaigua

RFP. 267 South Main Street // A Mixed Use Development
Rainaldi Brothers, Inc. // 205 St. Paul Street Suite 200 // 585-232-4408 // fredr@rainaldibros.com
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Project Overview

267 South Main Street sits at the southeast corner of Main Street and Saltonstall Street within the heart
of the City of Canandaigua’s downtown economic corridor. Its location provides a unique and critical
opportunity to both support Main Street’s existing businesses while catalyzing its connection to and
relationship with the Lakeshore economy.

The proposed development includes a single three-story structure with approximately 19,000 Usable
Square Feet. Tenants will include a mix of specialty retailers and professional offices, curated to promote
a vibrant four-season economy.

2

Project Description

Designed as a continuation of Main Street’s pedestrian oriented facades and historic street scape, the
proposed building is careful to make no attempt in replicating the prevailing historic architecture. With a
new street presence, the proposed structure introduces natural cedar shake siding along with other
natural wood accents and features. Incredible applications of glass used both improve the quality of life
within tenant spaces as well as to promote interactivity by passerby’s, gives life back to the street. Its
architecture which draws inspiration from waterside communities, provides for uniquely marketable
tenant spaces, significantly enhances the aesthetics of the entire area while drawing a connection to
Canandaigua’s important resources, namely the lake and waterfront.

Building Stats: Height 52’ // 1st Floor Plate +/- 8,000 SF // 2nd Floor Plate +/- 8,000 SF // Mezz +/-3,000 SF

3

Site Plan

3.1

Proposed Site Plan (attached)

3.2

Design Rendering / Preliminary Elevation (attached)

3.3

Floor Plans (attached)
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Economic Analysis and Project Costs

Project costs for the proposed development are estimated at $5,000,000 and is to be financed with bank
debt. No public funds will be sought out as part of the underwriting. As part of the project’s feasibility and
underwriting we are proposing a purchase price for the 267 South Main Street parcel of $1. This project
will require also the acquisition of 11 and 14 Saltonstall Street.

5

Development Timeline

Project Task

Planned Date

Approvals

Q3 2022

Construction Start

Q4 2022

Construction Complete

Q4 2023
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Project Team

Developer/Owner: Rainaldi Brothers, Inc.

Architect: David Hanlon, Hanlon Architects
Civil Engineers: Lincoln Swedrock, P.E, James Cretekos, P.E, BME Associates

Please see attached team credentials.

Thank You!

OVERVIEW
Recognized as one of Rochester’s most innovative development companies, Rainaldi Brothers, Inc. has
become a leader in commercial development through substantive and intelligent design. By focusing to
create a sense of place, service the needs of the local community and celebrate collaboration, Rainaldi
Brothers will continue to enhance the user experience and reshape client expectations.

COMMUNITY APPROACH
As part of the initial stages of our development process Rainaldi Brothers maintains a policy of engaging
the residents and neighborhood organizations surrounding the project site. Community input not only
drives architectural and civil design but also reinforces our careful approach in the way our projects
impact immediate infrastructure such as energy, water and thoroughfares. In 2014 Rainaldi Brothers was
presented the Uppermost Good Neighbor Award by the Upper Monroe Neighborhood Association for the
successful interaction during the redevelopment of the Culver Road Armory.

EXECUTIVE PROFILE
Fred, Richard and Fred Rainaldi Jr. have 70 years of combined experience in the real estate development
and asset-management profession. Rainaldi Brothers has developed, are developing and have acquired in
excess of 2,000,000 square feet of office, medical office, retail, residential and manufacturing space. In
addition to Rainaldi Brothers’ three principals, the organization is supported by a team of long-term
personal including a Certified Property Manager (CPM), in-house controller, attorney and project
manager.

CLIENTS – OFFICE/MEDICAL OFFICE

CLIENTS - RETAIL

RECENT PROJECTS

Before
After
Modernization/Expansion - Medical Campus - 2000 Empire Boulevard - RGH

New Construction - Constellation Brands HQ 120,000 SF - 207 High Point Drive

Restoration/Modernization – Culver Road Armory – 145 Culver Road

New Construction – Sports Medicine 25,000 SF – 2064 Nine Mile Point Road – UofR

Renovation/Expansion – Dialysis 10,000 SF – 2010 Empire Boulevard – RGH

New Construction – The North Face 7,000 SF – 240 High Street

RECENT AWARDS

2014 NAIOP AWARD MIXED USE DEVELOPMENT

2013 DEVELOPER OF THE YEAR

2015 RESHAPING ROCHESTER

2014 UPPERMOST GOOD NEIGHBOR

2012 GOLDEN HAMMER

Discover BME
At BME Associates, our success is determined in a simple founding principle: we
are dedicated problem solvers. Backed by significant industry-wide experience, we
consistently apply our expertise across a full range of projects and market sector
types.

10 Lift Bridge Lane East
Fairport, New York 14450
(585) 377-7360
150 Castle Street
Geneva, New York 14456
(315) 789-3996

Our level of dedication and collective passion has helped us establish a reputation
among clients and communities as a firm that can design and manage a project
from concept to completion.
Through a hands-on approach, our design professionals will collaborate with you
to design a project to maximize your investment in us and in the development
process. Our ultimate goal is to provide you with practical, timely and costeffective solutions.

Established: October 1988
In House Professionals: 33
Markets Served: • Residential
• Commercial • Office • Recreational
• Institutional • Urban Design
• Environmental • Municipal • Industrial

BME Services: Whether you’re looking for a single specialized service or an integrated comprehensive
approach, our full range of services offers quality project solutions from start to finish.
Site Engineering

-Project Engineering / Site Design
-Regulatory Agency Approvals and Permitting
-Drainage Studies
-Floodplain Analysis and Mapping
-Feasibility Analysis
-Traffic Studies

LAND PLANNING

-Land Use Planning
-Land Planning Services
-Green Development Services

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTURE
-Landscape Architecture
-Landscape Architecture Services

LAND SURVEYING

-UAS (Drone) Surveys
-Boundary ALTA / NSPS Land Title Surveys
-Instrument / Mortgage Surveys
-Flood Certificates and Flood Map Amendments
-Topographic Surveys
-Construction Stakeout
-Horizontal and Vertical Control Surveys
-Environmental Mapping
-Survey Records
-Additional Surveying Services

CONSTRUCTION SERVICES
-Contract Administration
-Construction Observation
-SWPPP Monitoring and Reporting
-Record Mapping and Reporting
-Contract Documents
-Owner/Contractor Liaison

ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES

-Wetland Services
-NYSDEC Stormwater Regulations Services
-Natural Resources Services
-Municipal Environmental Services
-State Environmental Quality Review
(SEQR) Services

Site Engineering
Our top priority is being a strong advocate for our client.
Whether it’s a privately owned development or a publicly
funded project, we help to make the client’s vision a reality
by developing a design that achieves the defined goals, while
guiding the project to completion on time and on budget.

10 Lift Bridge Lane East
Fairport, New York 14450
(585) 377-7360
150 Castle Street
Geneva, New York 14456
(315) 789-3996

bmepc.com

PROJECT ENGINEERING / SITE
DESIGN

Traffic and circulation; road and
parking layout; utility service
design; grading and earthwork
design;green infrastructure design.

REGULATORY AGENCY
APPROVALS & PERMITTING

Whether your project involves
town boards, or state and federal
agencies, our extensive experience
provides clients with guidance
through the most complex
government approvals.

Drainage Studies

Watershed analysis; stream profiling;
culvert capacity calculations;
stormwater management plans.

Floodplain Analysis &
Mapping

Staff capable of the extensive
technical study required by FEMA for
creating floodplain map amendments
and revisions.

Feasibility Analysis

Develop a comprehensive
analysis of opportunities and
constraints, infrastructure, and
code requirements. This important
component of due-diligence can
help determine an owner’s “go” or
“no go” decision.

traffic Studies

Being able to address community
traffic concerns, based on factual
information, in a clear and concise
manner plays a critical role in
turning a development plan into
reality.

Urban Design
LYONS NATIONAL BANK BME was responsible for site planning and
approvals for this urban redevelopment project. The project included
development of a branch office of the Lyons National Bank, as well
as leasable office space, parking, sidewalk improvements and the

10 Lift Bridge Lane East
Fairport, New York 14450
(585) 377-7360
150 Castle Street
Geneva, New York 14456
(315) 789-3996

establishment of lawn and landscaped areas.
bmepc.com

CANANDAIGUA MAIN STREET

NORTH PLYMOUTH TERRACE

BME provided the planning of landscape
architecture and engineering services to the
Canandaigua Streetscape project. We successfully
coordinated the involvement with the NYSDEC,
NYSDOT, City of Canandaigua DPW, RG&E, and
business owners to carry out the approval.

This 27-unit infill townhouse development is
located on property that was formerly a parking
lot owned by the City of Rochester. BME’s design
plans included two blocks of townhouses and the
implementation of a public pedestrian walkway.

PARK POINT @
SYRACUSE UNIVERSITY
This student housing project included
construction of a multi-level 66-unit apartment
building, as well as grading and sidewalk
reconstruction along three existing street
frontages. The privately owned and managed
residential facility features a private lounge and
gated courtyard, which is the site for a number of
resident events throughout the year.

Our Mission

J. Lincoln Swedrock, P.E.

Resume

Project Manager / Vice President
Professional Experience
Linc Swedrock has over 20 years of experience in commercial, industrial,
residential site design, and land development, with extensive experience in
transportation, utilities, land grading, and hydrologic design. As a project
manager, Linc’s in-depth knowledge and experience with the EPA/NYSDEC
stormwater regulations, site design, and development regulations have
contributed to managing the design and approval process for many
successful projects. His experience is a result of both his extensive technical
background and comprehensive knowledge of the regulatory aspects of
land development. Linc also routinely makes public presentations to
represent the applicant and project before municipal boards and
review/permitting agencies.

Representative Project Experience

Education
- A.A.S. Construction Engineering Technology,
Alfred State University, 1997
- B.S. Civil Engineering Technology,
Rochester Institute of Technology, 2000
Registration
- Professional Engineer, New York
Professional and Civic Affiliations
- American Society of Civil Engineers
- Lyons National Bank Advisory Board Member
- Fairport Chamber of Commerce
- RIT Civil Engineering Technology Advisory
Board

Main Street, Town of Canandaigua
Design and approvals for 15 green infrastructure practices designed to
provide water quality treatment of runoff along 1,550 LF of Main Street
Canandaigua.
Gananda Senior Living, Town of Walworth
The Gardens in Gananda is +/-62,575 SF, 3-story, 62 unit senior living
facility on a 4.7 acre site. The Gardens represents the first senior rental
project within the Gananda planned unit development zoning district,
each apartment benefits from attractive views overlooking the gardens,
pond, golf course and countryside. BME’s land planning work included
design of utilities, grading, stormwater management and landscaping.
Hammocks @ Canandaigua, @Geneseo, @Orchard Park, @Lysander
BME Associates has been lucky enough to be part of the team for
numerous Hammocks projects, ranging from 150 to 300 units in a wide
range throughout New York State. BME has worked with the team to
prepare the design plans and obtain the municipal approvals and
permits required for the projects.
Lincoln School, City of Hornell
The re-development of 1.5 acres and an existing 34,921 SF abandoned
school for 25 proposed apartment units. The site work includes
reconstruction of the existing parking areas, accessible entrances,
sidewalks for pedestrian access, a resident garden area, new utility
services, as well as new landscaping and lighting amenities.
Voters Block, City of Rochester
Design and approvals for 45 units for a residential infill project. The
project also included a 3-story 39-unit multi-family building and a
adaptive re-use of an existing building.

Discover More

BME ASSOCIATES
Engineers • Surveyors • Landscape Architects

Our Mission

James G. Cretekos, P.E.
Project / CAD Manager

Resume

Professional
Experience
Professional
Experience
Professional
Experience
James Cretekos has over 12 years of experience in the land development
industry including; commercial, residential, industrial and municipal
projects. James serves as a project engineer/manager and is responsible
for the technical aspects of the design and coordinating the approval
processes for local, county and state agencies. James is also the CAD
Manager for the company responsible for learning, training, and
implementing new and existing computer-aided design technologies
throughout our projects. His skill set includes site planning, water and
sanitary system design, hydrologic analysis and design, site grading and
erosion control design. James is a team oriented person and thoroughly
enjoys working with clients to deliver a quality product which meets all
aspects of every project’s goals.

Representative Project Experience

Education
- B.S. Civil Engineering, Clarkson University,
2009
Registration
- Professional Engineer, New York
- Professional Engineer, Pennsylvania

del Lago Resort and Casino, Town of Tyre
Proposed +/-210,000 SF casino with associated 6-story hotel and 4-story
parking garage located on +/-85 acres. BME’s work included complete
utility system layout and design, stormwater management design, site
grading, erosion control design, construction sequencing, lighting design,
wetland permitting, and coordination of the approval process with the
local, county and state agencies. The project also required public
watermain extension to bring potable water to the development site.
High Point Business Park, Town of Victor
This commercial site is part of the overall High Point Mixed Use project in
Victor, N.Y., and includes over 300,000 s.f. of office space, 18,500 s.f. of
retail space, and 300 apartment units. Site development plans were
designed to respect existing historic structures, including an original
cobblestone house, which was re-developed into a successful coffee
shop. The project design retains the historic aesthetic while providing
modern parking and access infrastructure.
Parker Place, Town of Perinton
This project consists of 120 apartment units within 11 buildings on 14.9
acres. BME’s design responsibilities included site layout, grading, utilities,
stormwatwer management, construction sequencing, and lighting and
landscape design. This project required extreme earthwork calculations
and grading adjustments to minimize imported fill material necessary to
construct the project.
The Cottages @ Canandaigua, City of Canandaigua
This 58 lot single-family home subdivision is located in the City of
Canandaigua. BME’s design responsibilities included site layout, grading,
utilities, stormwater management, construction sequencing, and lighting
and landscape design.

Discover More

BME ASSOCIATES
Engineers • Surveyors • Landscape Architects

SERVICES
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COMMERCIAL
Armory 1 & 2 – Rochester, NY

Alex & Ani

Arhaus

Fleet Feet

Benrus

High Point Retail – Victor, NY

The North Face

Alex & Ani

Doan Dealerships – Spencerport, NY

Doan Dodge

Doan Chevrolet
Starbucks & Chipotle – Irondequoit, NY

Woodhouse Day Spa

CORPORATE
Culver Road Armory I & II – Rochester, NY

Boylan Code, MRB, Erdman Anthony, Consilium1

Constellation Brands, Inc. – Victor, NY

Coopervision – Victor, NY

MEDICAL
Rochester General Hospital – Rochester, NY

Seneca Ridge Dialysis – Irondequoit, NY

Noyes Emergency United site work – Dansville, NY

2000 Empire – Webster, NY

EDUCATIONAL
Houghton College – Houghton, NY

Willard J. Houghton Library

Campus Center
Fingerlakes Community College – Canandaigua, NY

Perkins Townhouses
Campus Center Site work
Houghton Academy – Houghton, NY

Locker rooms

Fancher Dormitory

SPORTS AND ENTERTAINMENT
Watkins Glen International Speedway – Watkins Glen, NY

Media Center

Victory Lane

Town of North Dansville Fields – Dansville, NY

Catch Fence

Genesee Construction Service, Inc. -- Recent Project List
Owner

Architect

Contract Amount

Completion

Notes

Hanlon Architects
1300 University Ave
Rochester, NY 14607

$17 million

February 2009

60% OF WORK SELFPERFORMED

Hanlon Architects
1300 University Ave
Rochester, NY 14607

$1.2 million

September 2012

60% OF WORK SELFPERFORMED

Ken Nisch, AIA
29110 Inkster Road, Ste. 200
Southfield, MI 48034

$600,000

November 2012

70% OF WORK SELFPERFORMED

RDL Architects, Inc.
16102 Chagrin Blvd., Ste. 200
Shaker Heights, OH 44120

$979,000

May 2014

60% OF WORK SELFPERFORMED

Hanlon Architects
1300 University Ave
Rochester, NY 14607

Rochester $65,000
Victor $101,000
Williamsville $68,000

Rochester & Victor
Stores November
2012, Williamsville
August 2014

70% OF WORK SELFPERFORMED

Hanlon Architects
1300 University Ave
Rochester, NY 14608

$1.8 million

June 2013

60% OF WORK SELFPERFORMED

Hanlon Architects
1300 University Ave
Rochester, NY 14608

$5.5 million

May 2013

60% OF WORK SELFPERFORMED

Sean Moran, Architect PLLC
215 East Spruce Street
East Rochester, NY 14445

$210,000

August 2014

60% OF WORK SELFPERFORMED

Hanlon Architects
1300 University Ave
Rochester, NY 14608

$10.6 million

December 2012

60% OF WORK SELFPERFORMED

Hanlon Architects
1300 University Ave
Rochester, NY 14608

$5.9 million

January 2014

60% OF WORK SELFPERFORMED

Cortland Morgan Architect
711 North Fielder Road
Arlington, TX 76012

$613,000

December 2014

70% OF WORK SELFPERFORMED

Constellation Brands
207 High Point Drive
Victor, NY
World Headquarters (New Build)
Contact: Phil Megafee (585) 314-0941

Historic Highpoint Retail LLC
205 St. Paul Street, Ste. 100
Rochester, NY 14604-1187
(New Build) Victor, NY
Contact: Fred Rainaldi (585) 732-2483

The North Face
2013 Farallon Drive
San Leandro, CA 94577
(Tenant Buildout) Victor, NY
Contact: Mathew Burbary (248) 663-1719

Arhaus
7700 Northfield Rd.
Walton Hills, OH 44146
Tenant Buildout Armory Bldg. II
Contact: Christopher Welke (440) 439-7700

Alex & Ani
2000 Chapel View Blvd.
Cranston, RI 02920
Tenant Buildouts: Rochester, Victor, Williamsville NY
Contact: Tim Rouleau (401) 935-8939

Bay Creek Dialysis Center
2010 Empire Blvd.
Webster, NY 14580
Tenant Buildout for Rochester General Hospital
Contact: Dan McGraw (585) 748-8446

Dannic Holdings LLC
4477 West Ridge Road
Rochester, NY 14626
Doan Chevrolet, New Construction
Contact: Ray Helfrich (585) 352-6600

Houghton Academy
9790 Thayer Street
Houghton, NY 14744
Renovation
Contact: Scott Frazier (585) 567-8115

Culver Road Armory
145 Culver Road
Rochester, NY 14620
Renovation/New Construction
Contact: Fred Rainaldi (585) 732-2483

Culver Road Armory, Building II
155 Culver Road
Rochester, NY 14620
New Construction
Contact: Fred Rainaldi (585) 732-2483

Woodhouse Day Spa
235 High Street Extention
Victor, NY 14564
Tenant Buildout
Contact: Ed Alberts (315) 592-8900

** More available upon request.

Current Project List
Name

Title

Contract Amount

Completion

Notes

Hanlon Architects
1300 University Ave
Rochester, NY 14607

$10.9 million

October 2015

60% OF WORK SELFPERFORMED

Hanlon Architects
1300 University Ave
Rochester, NY 14607

$2.8 million$17 million October 2015

60% OF WORK SELFPERFORMED

Hanlon Architects
1300 University Ave
Rochester, NY 14607

$924,000 $17 million October 2015

60% OF WORK SELFPERFORMED

High Point 200, LLC
207 High Point Drive
Victor, NY
New Build/Coopervision & Soleo
Contact: Fred Rainaldi (585) 732-2483

High Point 200, LLC
207 High Point Drive
Victor, NY
Coopervision Tenant Buildout
Contact: Fred Rainaldi (585) 732-2483

High Point 200, LLC
207 High Point Drive
Victor, NY
Soleo Tenant Buildout
Contact: Fred Rainaldi (585) 732-2483

4389 Ridge Road West, LLC
4389 West Ridge Road
Rochester, NY 14626
Doan Buick, New Construction
Contact: Ray Helfrich (585) 352-6600

Hanlon Architects
1300 University Ave
Rochester, NY 14608

$5.6 million

November 2015

60% OF WORK SELFPERFORMED

Hanlon Architects
1300 University Ave
Rochester, NY 14608

$3.6 million

February 2016

60% OF WORK SELFPERFORMED

Hanlon Architects
1300 University Ave
Rochester, NY 14608

$2.1 million

February 2016

60% OF WORK SELFPERFORMED

Bay Creek Dialysis Center
2000 Empire Blvd.
Webster, NY 14580
Tenant Buildout for Rochester General Hospital
Contact: Dan McGraw (585) 748-8446

Laureland, Inc.
2000 Empire Blvd.
Webster, NY 14580
New Construction
Contact: Fred Rainaldi (585) 732-2483

Genesee Construction Service, Inc. -- Key Employees
Name

Title

Years Construction Experience

Years with Genesee

Lawrence Merle

Owner/President

30 Years

19

Richard Tyler

Sr. Project Manager/Estimator

25

2

Mary Ann Merle

Corporate Secretary

15

15

Ed Lysyczyn

Project Manager

40

8

Joe Gressinger

Foreman

12

12

Joshua Hayes

Foreman

15

10

Mark Johnson

Foreman

13

11

Todd Levee

Foreman

16

13

Mark Little

Foreman

20

1

Tim Perry

Foreman

15

8

Ken Winter

Foreman

10

5
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Lawrence Merle’s Genesee Construction Service has been the general contractor for
the Culver Road Armory, High Point and other projects. Proﬁle starts on page 10.

Photo by Kimberly McKinzie

High profile

WWW.RBJDAILY.COM

Reprinted with permission of the Rochester Business Journal.

VOLUME 31, NUMBER 5

WWW.RBJDAILY.COM

MAY 1, 2015

PROFILE

CEO still gets a rush from the job
Lawrence Merle co-founded Dansville-based Genesee Construction Service in 1996

Photo by Kimberly McKinzie

Reprinted with permission of the Rochester Business Journal.

By ANDREA DECKERT

awrence Merle recently was asked
about his biggest regret. His reply was
simple: He does not have one.
“Things happen for a reason, and if I
were to change something I wouldn’t be
where I am today,” says Merle, the CEO of
Genesee Construction Service Inc. “This
is who I am.”
Merle, 48, founded the business in 1996
with two partners; in 1999 he bought his
partners out and became the sole owner.
In 1999, Genesee Construction was composed of a handful of workers and logged
sales of roughly $1 million. The Dansville,
Livingston County, company now employs
nearly 30 workers and logs annual sales of
nearly $15 million.
The local construction firm has served
as the general contractor on high-profile
projects in the area, from the Culver Road
Armory to the High Point development in
Victor, Ontario County.
While no two days—or two projects—are
the same, Merle enjoys life on the job.
“I enjoy a vacation, but I’m always excited coming back to work,” Merle says. “I
can’t imagine doing anything else.”

L

Changing paths
Merle grew up in Coalport, a small rural
town in central western Pennsylvania.
After high school, he attended Bob Jones
University, a Christian liberal arts college
in Greenville, S.C. He originally intended
to study pre-law.
“I loved to argue,” he says.
When not in class or studying, Merle
would work construction jobs to earn some
extra cash. It turned out to be a field he was
interested in pursuing.

Lawrence Merle
Title: CEO, Genesee Construction
Service Inc.
Age: 48
Education: B.S. in accounting, Bob
Jones University, Greenville, S.C.,
1988
Residence: Dansville, Livingston County
Family: Wife, Mary Ann; daughter,

Mary Ellyn, 23, and son, Jon, 20
Hobbies: Hunting, operating a beef

farm
Quote: “I enjoy a vacation, but I’m
always excited coming back to the job.
I can’t imagine doing anything else.”

“I’d always done small (construction) jobs,”
he says. “I realized I really liked it.”
So, he changed his major sophomore
year. He chose accounting for two reasons:
First, construction companies traditionally
were not strong on the finance side of the
business. Second, it gave him something
to fall back on if his venture into the field
didn’t work out.
Merle graduated with a bachelor of science degree in accounting in 1988. He
stayed in South Carolina for about a year
before heading to Upstate New York, where
his wife, whom he met in college, grew up.
He worked for a local construction company, but his goal was to own his own. He
founded Genesee Construction with two of
his co-workers. It started as a largely gen-

that Merle has garnered the respect of national retailers at both the Culver Road Armory and High Point.
Merle also does jobs for Rochester Regional Health System, including building
some of its dialysis centers.
Genesee Construction has completed
jobs for Watkins Glen International and the
Doan Family of Dealerships, and has built
more than a dozen Rite Aid Corp. stores.
At least 85 percent of Genesee Construction’s work is from repeat customers.
“We are one of the best-kept secrets in
the area,” Merle says.

A diverse trade

One of the things he likes most is the
diversity of his profession, Merle says. He
even enjoys the sometimes
schedules.
“At the end of the day, there’s something hectic
“People will joke that I never age, and I believe that’s beto show for the work you have done.”
cause I truly love what I do,”
eral construction firm, but later expanded Merle says. “I get to do what I want on a
daily basis and make a good living at it.”
into site work.
The most challenging part of his job is
“We do everything, from removing the
first tree on the site to planting the last tree finding trained, dedicated workers. Ideally,
he would like to grow the business to nearthere,” Merle says.
Employees are cross-trained, so most can ly 40 workers, a number he believes would
do everything from laying blacktop to be adequate to accommodate growth.
Merle praises his current workforce, nothanging sheet rock. The firm sees little
turnover, with the average employee hav- ing it takes commitment and pride in one’s
work to make it in the construction field.
ing worked there for nearly a decade.
“There’s a sense of accomplishment when
Genesee Construction serves customers
mainly within a 100-mile radius of Dans- you see a finished job,” Merle says. “At the
end of the day, there’s something to show
ville.
One of Genesee Construction’s current for the work you have done.”
Merle still enjoys it when people look at
jobs is the second Class A office building
at High Point, a Rainaldi Bros. Inc. devel- a building Genesee Construction has raised
opment comprising retail, office and pro- and praise him for a job well done.
“It’s an adrenaline rush,” he says.
posed residential space on 120 acres across
That desire to see the finished product
from Eastview Mall.
Among the tenants will be CooperVision and to be proud of the results drives him
Inc., which is expected to move in this sum- to succeed in the field.
“If you couldn’t see something like that
mer.
Genesee Construction built the first of- it’s hard to get out there and work in subfice building there, which houses Constel- zero temperatures,” Merle says.
Tony Randall, CEO of Rochester-based
lation Brands Inc.’s headquarters, as well
as the retail stores below, including Alex Ramar Steel Inc., has worked on projects
with Merle for about 10 years. The two
& Ani and the North Face.
Merle began working for Fred Rainaldi have complementary styles and the busiSr. in the late 1990s, after trying to make ness relationship turned into a friendship,
inroads with the developer. The job was a Randall says.
He describes Merle as honest and hardRite Aid Corp. store in Dansville, and Merle’s local connection, as well working.
“When he says something, you can bank
as his tenacity, helped land him the
on it,” Randall says. “He’s one of the few
job.
Fred Rainaldi Jr. praised Merle’s work, people I would do a job for with a handciting his experience, attention to detail, shake.”
Merle begins his days early, around 5:30
high energy and family atmosphere he helps
create on job sites. He also spoke of Merle’s a.m., and often works until near 10 p.m.
ability to adapt at the highest level to dif- when he sends out final e-mails for the day.
ferent building styles from specialty retail He works in the office, but spends a large
and medical to Class A office space, adding part of his time on job sites. One day a

Reprinted with permission of the Rochester Business Journal.

week is dedicated to meetings where he
reviews current and upcoming projects.
Merle enjoys watching his clients grow.
“When they grow, you grow,” he says.
Merle’s efforts recently received industry
kudos: He traveled to Las Vegas to be honored as Equipment World’s 2015 Contractor
of the Year.
Each year, the recipient and 11 finalists
are selected by the editors of Equipment
World in a competition sponsored by Caterpillar Inc. Genesee Construction was
chosen out of 80,000 firms throughout
North America.
Merle describes his life as an American
dream success story, which has come to-

gether with the help of many, from subcontractors and employees to clients.
“I have a great wife, kids who tolerate
me and a job I love,” he says.
Merle lives in Dansville. He and his wife
of 26 years, Mary Ann, have two children: a
daughter, Mary Ellyn, 23, and son, Jon, 20.
Mary Ann handles office administration
and human resources for the f irm, and
Mary Ellyn oversees marketing and communications.
When not working, Merle enjoys hunting
and a more unusual hobby: He operates a
beef farm called J&M Ranch. Merle bought
his first animal in 2004. The farm has 20
to 25 cattle at a time, raised naturally and

Reprinted with permission of the Rochester Business Journal.

with no growth hormones.
Professionally, he has no plans to slow
down. Merle does not see himself stepping
away from the business he created and
grew—even if he served as a sounding
board when older.
“It’s like one of your children; it’s part
of who I am,” he says.
Merle was recently having a conversation
about rewriting history—what you would
change if you could go back in time and
do things differently.
He would not change a thing.
“I thoroughly enjoy what I do,” Merle
says.
adeckert@rbj.net / 585-546-8303
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Independent Auditors’ Report
To the Honorable Mayor and Council Members
The City of Canandaigua
Ontario County, New York
Opinions
We have audited the financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, each major
fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of City of Canandaigua, Ontario County, New York, as of and
for the year ended December 31, 2021, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively
comprise the City’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents.
In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the respective
financial position of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, each major fund, and the aggregate
remaining fund information of the City of Canandaigua, Ontario County, New York, as of December 31, 2021, and
the respective changes in financial position and, where applicable, cash flows thereof for the year then ended in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
Basis for Opinions
We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America
(GAAS). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are required to be independent of the City of
Canandaigua, Ontario County, New York and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with the
relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinions.
Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for the design, implementation, and
maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions or events,
considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the City’s ability to continue as a going concern for
twelve months beyond the financial statement date, including any currently known information that may raise
substantial doubt shortly thereafter.
1

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinions.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
Misstatements are considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they
would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on the financial statements.
In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS, we:






Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.
Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include
examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.
Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the City’s internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.
Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting
estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the financial statements.
Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise
substantial doubt about the City’s ability to continue as a going concern for a reasonable period of time.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned
scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control–related matters that we
identified during the audit.
Required Supplementary Information
Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management’s discussion
and analysis, schedule of funding progress of postemployment benefit plan, schedule of the City’s proportionate
share of the net position liability, schedule of City contributions, and budgetary comparison information on pages
4–15 and 60–63 be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information is the responsibility of
management and, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting
Standards Board who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial
statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited
procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in
the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the
information and comparing the information for consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic
financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not
express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us
with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.
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Supplementary Information
Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively comprise
the City of Canandaigua, Ontario County, New York’s basic financial statements. The accompanying supplemental
information as listed in the table of contents are presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required
part of the basic financial statements. Such information as listed in the table of contents is the responsibility of
management and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to
prepare the basic financial statements. This information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the
audit of the basic financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such
information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or
to the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards
generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the accompanying supplementary information
as listed in the table of contents is fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the basic financial statements
as a whole.
Rochester, New York
June 3, 2022
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CITY OF CANANDAIGUA, ONTARIO COUNTY, NEW YORK
Management’s Discussion and Analysis
December 31, 2021

INTRODUCTION
The following is a discussion and analysis of the City of Canandaigua, Ontario County, New York’s (the City)
financial performance for the year ended December 31, 2021. This section of the report should be read in conjunction
with the basic financial statements, which immediately follow this section, in order to provide an enhanced
understanding of the City’s financial performance.
FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
Key financial highlights for fiscal year ended 2021 are as follows:
 On the government-wide statements, the net position for the City (assets and deferred outflow of resources less
liabilities and deferred inflows of resources) was $45,742,934 at the close of the most recent year.


The City’s total net position increased by $632,267 or 1.4%. The net position of governmental activities
increased by $127,086 and net position of business-type activities increased by $505,181.



At the close of the current year, the City’s governmental funds reported combined ending fund balances of
$8,393,282, an increase of $53,584 over the prior year.



The General Fund reported an ending unassigned fund balance of $5,436,806, an increase of $1,511,828 or 38.5%
over the prior year and represents 34.2% of total General Fund expenditures.



The City’s total outstanding bonds payable decreased 10.8% from $19,325,000 to $17,230,000 during the current
year, representing $2,095,000 in principal payments.
OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The City’s basic financial statements are comprised of three components: (1) government-wide financial statements,
(2) fund financial statements and (3) notes to the financial statements. This report also contains individual fund
financial statements and schedules in addition to these basic financial statements.
Government-Wide Financial Statements
These statements are designed to provide readers with a broad overview of the City’s finances in a manner similar to a
private-sector business. These consist of:


The statement of net position which presents information on all of the City’s assets and liabilities, and deferred
inflows/outflows of resources, with the difference between the two reported as net position. Over time, increases
or decreases in net position may serve as a useful indicator of whether the financial position of the City is
improving or deteriorating.
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The statement of activities which presents information showing how the City’s net position changed during the
most recent year. The primary governmental activities of the City as used in this statement include general
government support, public safety, transportation, economic assistance, culture and recreation, home and
community services, and interest on long-term debt. The business-type activities include the water and sewer
fund. This statement calculates the cost of each functional activity as well as all resources available for that
purpose.

The government-wide financial statements are prepared using the flow of economic resources measurement focus and
the accrual basis of accounting. The accrual basis of accounting, which is similar to the methods used by most
businesses, takes into account all revenues and expenses connected with the fiscal year even if cash involved has not
been received or paid.
Fund Financial Statements
In the governmental area, financial statements are organized around “funds.” A fund is a grouping of related accounts
that is used to maintain control over resources that have been segregated for specific activities or objectives. Funds are
established to control and manage the money and budgets of certain governmental activities. Some funds are required
to be set up by law, and others to meet state and federal government requirements. All the funds of the City can be
divided into three categories: governmental funds, proprietary funds and fiduciary funds.


Governmental Funds: Governmental funds focus on a government’s near-term inflows and outflows of spendable
resources, as well as on balances of spendable resources available at the end of the fiscal year. The City
maintains nine individual government funds that are included in the governmental balance sheet and statement of
revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balances. Major funds consist of the general fund, and the capital
projects fund. Nonmajor funds, combined on the financial statements, consist of the, debt service fund, watershed
program, parks and open spaces, technology fund, community development fund, refuse fund, and the cemetery
fund. Data for each of these nonmajor funds can be found in the supplemental information.



Proprietary Funds: Proprietary funds are used to account for governmental activities that are like commercial
activities. Generally, they account for the production of goods or services sold to the public. A type of
proprietary fund is an enterprise fund which a government establishes to account for activities that consist of
rendering services or providing goods to the public for which a fee or charge is collected. The City has
established two enterprise funds, a water fund and sewer fund.


Fiduciary Funds: Fiduciary funds are used to account for assets held in a trustee or custodial capacity. The
City maintains one custodial fund. The custodial fund is not reflected in the government-wide financial
statements because the resources of those funds are not available to support the City’s own programs.

Notes to the Financial Statements
The notes provide additional information that is essential to a full understanding of the data provided in the
government-wide and fund financial statements. The notes to the financial statements are located following the basic
financial statements section of this report.
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Other Supplementary Information
Other supplementary information includes combining financial statements for nonmajor governmental funds, each of
which are added together and presented in single columns in the financial statements.
GOVERNMENT-WIDE FINANCIAL ANALYSIS
Net position may serve over time as a useful indicator of the City’s financial position. As of December 31, 2021, the
total assets of the City exceeded liabilities by $45,742,934.
CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF NET ASSETS
FOR GOVERNMENTAL AND BUSINESS-TYPE ACTIVITIES
December 31,
Business-Type
2021
2020

Governmental Activities
2021
2020

Total
2021

2020

Assets

Current and other assets
Capital assets
Total assets
Deferred Outflows

$ 10,252,432
40,267,874

$ 9,670,379
40,949,130

$ 9,252,975
19,096,283

$ 9,045,156
19,777,990

$ 19,505,407
59,364,157

$ 18,715,535
60,727,120

50,520,306

50,619,509

28,349,258

28,823,146

78,869,564

79,442,655

9,325,534

6,344,070

1,331,351

912,415

10,656,885

7,256,485

1,725,586
22,350,350
24,075,936

1,151,644
27,104,116
28,255,760

219,849
10,120,082
10,339,931

126,534
11,938,756
12,065,290

1,945,435
32,470,432
34,415,867

1,278,178
39,042,872
40,321,050

7,690,583

755,584

1,677,065

511,839

9,367,648

1,267,423

10,301,049
6,592,970
769,594
$ 17,663,613

10,123,075
6,302,280
733,077
$ 17,158,432

Liabilities

Other liabilities
Long-term liabilities
Total liabilities
Deferred Inflows
Net Position

assets

31,693,874
Restricted
1,565,590
Unrestricted
(5,180,143)
Total net position $ 28,079,321

31,221,530
2,949,726
(6,219,021)
$ 27,952,235

41,994,923
8,158,560
(4,410,549)
$ 45,742,934

41,344,605
9,252,006
(5,485,944)
$ 45,110,667

The largest component of the City’s net position, $41,994,923 or 91.8%, reflects its investment in capital assets (land,
buildings and facilities, machinery and equipment, rolling stock and infrastructure), less accumulated depreciation and
any related outstanding debt used to acquire or construct the assets. The City uses these capital assets to provide a
variety of services to its citizens and as a result these assets are not available for future spending.
Although the City’s investment in a capital asset is reported net of related debt, the resources used to repay this debt
must be provided from other sources since the capital assets themselves cannot be used to liquidate these liabilities.
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A portion of the City’s net position is restricted, representing resources that are subject to external restriction on how
they may be used. Approximately $8,158,560 or 17.8 % of total net position is restricted and is not available to
finance the day-to-day operations of the City. The funding levels of restricted reserves decreased in the amount of
$1,093,446 from fiscal 2020 to fiscal 2021 primarily due to the use of capital reserves to pay for capital expenditures.
The remaining negative balance of $4,410,549 or 9.6% is the result of the inclusion of long-term debt in regards to
Pensions, Other Post-Employment Benefits and Compensated Absences to the Fund Financial Statement. This
reconciliation can be found in the footnotes of the Financial Statement.
GOVERNMENTAL AND BUSINESS-TYPE ACTIVITIES

December 31,
Business-Type

Governmental Activities

Program revenue
2021
Charges for service
$ 2,426,068
Operating grants and contributions
327,096
Capital grants and contributions
502,507
General revenue
Real property taxes
5,942,231
Non-property taxes
5,871,364
Governmental aid
1,175,269
Other
722,128
Transfers
290,000
Total revenue
17,256,663
Program expenses
General government
Public safety
Transportation
Economic Assistance and
Opportunity
Cultural and recreation
Home and community services
Interest on long-term debt
Water
Sewer
Total expenses
Change in net position
Net position at beginning of year
Net position at end of year

$ 2,987,482
7,021,374
3,284,486
237,912
1,481,271
1,842,516
274,536
17,129,577
127,086

Total

2020

2021

2020

2021

2020

$ 2,216,282
472,960
334,935

$ 6,104,399
318,745

$ 6,039,044
328,625

$ 8,530,467
327,096
821,252

$ 8,255,326
472,960
663,560

5,942,231
5,871,364
1,175,269
764,394
23,432,073

5,606,253
4,926,156
1,063,339
678,307
21,665,901

-

$ 2,987,482
7,021,374
3,284,486

$ 3,020,261
7,658,561
2,991,893

2,907,409
2,762,820
5,670,229

2,878,997
2,953,183
5,832,180

237,912
1,481,271
1,842,516
274,536
2,907,409
2,762,820
22,799,806

218,019
1,292,444
1,940,953
291,959
2,878,997
2,953,183
23,246,270

505,181

318,220

632,267

5,606,253
4,926,156
1,063,339
605,576
290,000
15,515,501

42,266
(290,000)
6,175,410

$ 3,020,261
7,658,561
2,991,893
218,019
1,292,444
1,940,953
291,959
17,414,090

$

(1,898,589)

-

72,731
(290,000)
6,150,400
$

(1,580,369)

27,952,235

29,850,824

17,158,432

16,840,212

45,110,667

46,691,036

$ 28,079,321

$ 27,952,235

$ 17,663,613

$ 17,158,432

$ 45,742,934

$ 45,110,667

The revenue and expense information was derived from the government-wide statement of activities and reflects how
the City’s net position changed during the year. The City’s total net position increased by $632,267 in 2021. Total
government expenses of $22.8 million were offset by revenues of $23.4 million.
Governmental Activities: For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021, governmental activities increased the City’s
net position by $127,086. Revenues of $17,256,663 from governmental activities increased $1,741,162 over the prior
year while related expenses of $17,129,577 decreased by $284,513.
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Program revenues of $3,255,671 represented 18.9% of total governmental revenues and increased 7.6% over the prior
year. General revenues of $14,000,992 (taxes, unallocated state and federal aid, investment earnings and other
revenue) represented 81.1% of total governmental revenues and increased 12.1 % over 2020.
The major factors contributing the overall revenue increase of $1,736,762 were:
 Charges for service increased $209,786 from the prior year mainly due to easing of COVID restrictions.
a. Rental housing inspection fees, fire inspection fees, code enforcement and building and alteration
permits increased by $24,644.
b. Parking ticket and court fines increased by $36,954.
c. Recreation and park rental fees increased by $90,247.
d. Intergovernmental contract services for fire and police services increased by $40,489, offset by a
decrease in services for assessment challenges of $13,652.
e. The sale of solar energy increased by $23,045.
f. Crime proceeds and restitution increased by $27,818.
g. Community Development income increased by $14,272


h. Treasurer and Clerk fees increased $12,264.
Operating grants and contributions decreased by $142,864 due to the timing of grants issued in 2020 verses 2021
from the Office and Community Renewal and grants for the Watershed Program.



Capital grants and contributions increased by $167,572 mainly due to the amount of Consolidated Highway
Improvement Fund (CHIPS), PAVE NY and EWR funding used in 2021 versus the prior year which included
carryover funds from 2020 used in 2021.



Property tax revenue increased by $335,978 due to a property tax levy increase of 5.14%.



Non-property tax increased by $945,207 over the previous year.
i. Sales tax revenue increased $747,542 due to opening of the economy in 2021.



j. Hotel occupancy tax increased by $194,102 due to the opening of a hotel in 2021.
Mortgage tax revenue increased $49,404 due to an increase in refinance or purchase of homes.



Unallocated State aid increased $111,930 due to the restoration of State aid that was cut by the State in 2020.



Interest rates continued to decline which resulted in a decrease in interest earnings of $70,258.



Miscellaneous revenue increased by $157,405 primarily driven by sales of equipment and insurance
reimbursements.

Program expenses decreased by $284,513 or 1.6% from the prior year.
 Overall expenditures before GASB 34 adjustments increased by 4.5% over the prior year. The COVID-19
pandemic resulted in an uncertain economy in 2020, and the City took proactive measures to curb expenditures
which were reestablished in 2021.
k. In 2020 the City instituted hiring freezes of personnel to fill vacancies and reduced summer seasonal
staff.
Programs and staffing were reestablished in 2021 and therefore expenditures increased
accordingly.
l. There was an overall 3% cost of living increase for employees.
m. The largest contributor to the increase in expenditures was due to the purchase of capital, which is
expensed in the funds and recorded as an asset in the governmental statements.
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The GASB 34 adjustments resulted in an overall decrease in expenditures of $1,247,518 from the prior year.
n. The largest component was a decrease in the GASB 68 reporting of net pension lability which resulted
in decrease of $1,208,050 from 2020.
o. GASB 34 requires fixed assts to be capitalized and depreciated for the government wide statements.
This resulted in an additional capitalization of equipment of $467,187 from the prior year but offset
by an increase in depreciation expense of $221,586.
p. The remaining GASB adjustment for compensated absences and other post-retirement benefits
resulted in a net increase of $119,054 over the prior year.

Business-Type Activities: The net position of business-type activities (Water Fund and Sewer Fund) increased by
$505,181 for fiscal year 2021.
Revenues for business-type activities totaled approximately $6.17 million, an increase of .4% from the prior year,
while expenses totaled $5.7 million, a decrease of 2.8% from the prior year. Significant variances are as follows:


Metered water sales account for 45.3% of the Water fund revenue. Metered water rates remained the same for
2021 with revenues increasing by 3.2% over the prior year primarily due to the shutdown of businesses and
schools in 2020. Wholesale water sales to the Towns represent 61.2% of Water Fund revenue which decreased
by 7.3% due to lower water consumption. Remaining revenue includes a transfer of funds to the General Fund
and represents (6.5%) of total revenue. Water fund expenditures remained relatively flat with only a 1% increase.



Sewer rents account for 51.1% of Sewer Fund Revenues. Sewer rent rates remained the same for 2021 and
resulted in a 5.7% increase in sewer revenue (based on water consumption). Liquid waste agreements for
processing waste at the Water Resource Recovery Facility represents 18% of Sewer Fund Revenues and increased
7.0% over the prior year. Contributions from Ontario County for processing County waste and operating
contributions to capital represented 27.8% of revenue and reduced .05% over the prior year. Other revenues
represent 3.1% of total revenues. Expenditures decreased 6.4% over 2020 mainly due to decrease in the City’s
share of net pension liability and OPEB liability as well as a decrease in depreciation expense.

FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF CITY FUNDS
Financial Analysis of the Government’s Funds
As noted earlier, the City uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance-related legal
requirements.
Governmental Funds: The focus of the City’s governmental funds is to provide information on near-term inflows,
outflows, and balances of spendable resources. Such information is useful in assessing the City’s financing
requirements. In particular, unassigned fund balance may serve as a useful measure of a government’s net resources
available for discretionary use as it represents the portion of fund balance which has not yet been limited to use for a
particular purpose.
At the end of the current fiscal year, the City reported a combined fund balance of $8,393,282, an increase of $53,584
from the prior year. A summary of the change in fund balance for all governmental funds is as follows:
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CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE FOR
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
FOR THE PERIOD ENDING DECEMBER 31,

General Fund Nonspendable for inventory
Nonspendable for prepaid expenses
Restricted for insurance
Restricted for capital
Resticted for general reserve
Assigned for encumbrances
Assigned for Kershaw Park
Assigned - designated for subsequent
year's expenditures
Unassigned
Total Fund Balance - General Fund
Nonmajor Governmental Funds Restricted for debt service

$

2021
14,823
404,132
60,692
887,303
26,305
45,553
67,298

$

2020
12,908
368,016
31,500
2,116,349
13,369
23,666
57,907

$

684,586
5,436,806
7,627,498

$

749,747
3,924,978
7,298,440

$

73,831

$

293,451

Nonspendable for prepaid expenses
Restricted for the watershed program
Restricted for parks and open spaces
Restricted for community block grant Funds
Restricted for cemetery fund
Restricted for energy projects fund
Assigned for technology
Total Fund Balance - Nonmajor
Governmental Funds

4,141
247,440
88,622
136,005
29,042
16,350
170,353

3,511
164,708
51,506
246,013
32,830
249,239

$

765,784

$

1,041,258

Total Fund Balance - All

$

8,393,282

$

8,339,698

General Fund The General Fund is the chief operating fund of the City. At the end of the current year the total fund
balance of the General Fund was $7,627,498, an increase of $329,058 or 4.5% over the prior year. The unassigned
fund balance at year end was $5,436,806, an increase of $1,511,828 or 38.5% over 2020 and represents 71.3% of the
total General Fund balance. Two useful measures of liquidity are the percentage of unassigned fund balance to total
expenditures and total fund balance to total expenditures. At the end of the current fiscal year, the General Fund
showed a 34.2% unassigned fund balance to total expenditures and other financing uses and a 48.0% total fund balance
to total expenditures and other financing uses.
The other large variance is the portion of the General Fund balance that is restricted for capital which resulted in a
decreased by $1,229,046 from the prior year. This represented an increase in funding used for capital expenditures in
2021 over 2020, mostly due to the shutdown of the economy which delayed the purchase and construction of capital
assets.
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Capital Projects Fund The Capital Projects Fund is used for the purchase and construction of capital assets. Funding
sources for this fund is a transfer from the capital reserve and state and county aid. All expenditures are funded
through these sources and therefore has no ending fund balance.
The Nonmajor Governmental Funds The Non-major Governmental Funds consist of the following individual funds:
Debt Service, Watershed Program, Technology, Parks & Open Spaces, Energy Projects, Cemetery and Community
Development. For the fiscal year ending December 31, 2021, the combined fund balance of these funds totaled
$765,784, a decrease of $275,474 or 26.5% from the prior year. This was mainly due to the use of funds in the Debt
Service fund that were used to pay off corresponding debt.
Proprietary Funds The City’s proprietary fund consist of two enterprise funds, Water Fund and Sewer Fund. The
City’s proprietary funds statements provide the same type of information in the government-wide financial statements,
but in greater detail.


The total net position of the Water Fund at year end was $6,579,181, an increase of $147,037 over the prior year.
The net investment in capital assets was $5,271,581, restricted for debt and capital totaled $1,297,057 leaving a
balance of $10,543 in unrestricted net position.



The total net position of the Sewer Fund at year end was $11,084,432, an increase of $358,144 over the prior
year. The net investment in capital assets was $5,029,468, restricted for debt and capital totaled $5,295,913
leaving a balance of $759,051 in unrestricted net position.

BUDGETARY HIGHLIGHTS
The City adopts annual operating budgets for its governmental funds and enterprise funds and reports the results of
operations on a budgetary comparison basis. In preparing its budget. The City attempts to estimate its revenues using
realistic, but conservative, methods so as to budget its expenditures, appropriations and activities in a prudent manner.
As a result, the City Council adopts budget adjustments during the course of the fiscal year, according the City’s
Budget Adjustment Policy, to reflect both the changed priorities and availability of additional revenues to allow for
expansion of existing, or creation of new programs.
The general fund revenues of $15.9 million resulted in a positive variance of $1,154,211 or 7.8% when compared to
the amended budget of $14.8 million.
The major positive variances were a result of better than expected revenues due to an uncertain economy:
 Sales tax ended with a positive variance of $835,503 or 18.4%.


Hotel Occupancy tax ended with a positive variance of $137,285 or 139.2% increase from the budget.



New York State paid back what it withheld in 2020 for State aid as well as reinstating the original amount in 2021
which caused a positive variance of $279,826 or 31.25%.



Mortgage tax continued to increase more than anticipated with a positive variance of $51,196 or 21.3%.



Sale of electric based on solar energy had a positive variance of $64,716 or 19.3%. This is weather dependent
and does not have a significant history on which to base budget estimates on.

This was offset by negative variances of which the significant ones are:
 Payment in Lieu of Taxes had an negative variance of $94,364 or 41.7% due to changes in agreements and
property ownership which deferred payments.


Interest and penalties on property taxes decreased by $19,322 or 24%.
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Interest income continues to decline as interest rates remained very low. This resulted in a 24% decrease in what
was expected.

The general fund expenditures and Transfers-out of $15.9 million resulted in a positive variance of $1,352,841 (net of
encumbrances) or 7.8% when compared to the amended budget of $17.3 million.
The City experienced positive variances in all departments which are further broken down by the following categories:

Variance to Budget

Salaries and Wages
Department Equip
Supplies
Contractual
Benefits
Interfund Transfers
Contingency
Total Operational Expenditures $

Current
Budget
Actual
Encumbrances
$
6,662,837
6,247,454
415,383
121,334
98,641
10,215
12,479
571,954
480,305
7,629
84,020
2,439,502
2,209,788
27,710
202,004
3,900,618
3,653,880
246,738
3,582,319
3,193,032
389,287
7,210
4,280
2,930
17,285,775 $ 15,883,101 $
49,833 $ 1,352,841

%
6.2%
10.3%
14.7%
8.3%
6.3%
10.9%
40.6%
7.8%

All expenditure categories ended with a positive variance.
 Salaries and wages saw the biggest positive variance due to the timing of filling vacancies due to turnover and
retirements. Also, difficulty in finding employees resulted in vacancies in seasonal staff. Due to a mild winter
for snow, the City had savings in overtime for snowplowing.


Due to a mild winter, the City had savings in departmental supplies for snowplowing.



Various budget centers had savings in the contractual expenditures due to areas such as conferences and dues,
software and systems maintenance.



Savings were also achieved in benefits, due to the timing of filling personnel as well as the estimates for the NYS
retirement system.

GOVERNMENT-WIDE CAPITAL ASSET AND DEBT ADMINISTRATION
At December 31, 2021, the City had $60.7 million (after depreciation is deducted) in a broad range of capital assets
including land, buildings, and machinery and equipment and construction in progress. The change in the City’s net
assets between 2021 and 2020 is reflected below:
Capital Assets, Net of Depreciation

Land
Buildings and improvements
Machinery and equipment
Infrastructure
Construction in progress
Total Capital Assets

Governmental Activities
2021
2020
$ 4,446,402
$ 4,446,402
13,315,280
13,353,065
4,729,290
4,070,339
17,776,902
19,035,768
43,556
$ 40,267,874

$ 40,949,130

December 31,
Business-Type
2021
2020
$ 164,072
$ 164,072
10,833,264
11,589,400
2,023,003
1,933,203
5,458,866
5,734,158
617,078
357,157
$ 19,096,283
12

$ 19,777,990

Total
2021
2020
$ 4,610,474
$ 4,610,474
24,148,544
24,942,465
6,752,293
6,003,542
23,235,768
24,769,926
617,078
400,713
$ 59,364,157

$ 60,727,120

Government-Wide Capital Assets - The net decrease in capital assets during the current year amounted to $681,256
and included the following:
 The work in progress for uncompleted projects decreased $43,556 and were all completed in 2021.


Purchase of assets and infrastructure and capitalization of completed projects increased fixed assets in the amount
of $2.3 million.



Depreciation expense of $2.9 million was charged against the assets.

Business-Type Activities Capital Assets - The net decrease in capital assets during the current year amounted to
$681,707 and included the following:
 The work in progress for uncompleted projects increased $259,921 due to uncompleted projects,


Depreciated assets increased by $424,930 during 2021.



Depreciation expense of $1.4 million was charged against the assets.
LONG-TERM DEBT

At December 31, 2021, the City had $32.5 million in general obligation and other long-term debt outstanding as
follows:

Serial bonds
Compensated absences
Other postemployment benefits
Net pension liability
Total Long Term Debt

Governmental Activities
2021
2020
$ 8,574,000 $ 9,727,600
660,051
668,031
11,502,049
10,382,645
1,614,250
6,325,840

December 31,
Business-Type
2021
2020
$ 8,656,000 $
9,597,400
136,338
143,653
1,323,411
1,146,985
4,333
1,050,718

2021
$ 17,230,000
796,389
12,825,460
1,618,583

2020
$ 19,325,000
811,684
11,529,630
7,376,558

$ 22,350,350

$ 10,120,082

$ 32,470,432

$ 39,042,872

$27,104,116

$

11,938,756

Total

Principal payments, other than refunding, for the year ending December 31, 2021 on serial bonds totaled $1,153,600
for governmental funds and $941,400 for enterprise funds.
The City is subject to a constitutional debt limit pursuant to Article VIII of the State Constitution and Title 9 Article 2
of the Local Finance Law. This debt limit is equal to 7% of the latest five-year average of the full valuation of all
taxable real property within the City. The water fund debt is constitutionally excluded from the debt limit, and the
sewer fund debt prior to 2016 is excluded from the debt limit pursuant to Section 124.10 of the Local Finance Law.
The City exhausted 15.04% of its constitutional debt capacity and has the authority to issue up to an additional $44.8
million of general obligation long-term debt.
CREDIT RATING
The City was issued an AA- credit rating by Standard & Poor’s in 2020.
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FUTURE FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS
The 2022 budget for the City of Canandaigua for general, capital, debt service, water, sewer and special revenue funds
totaled $31.3 million, (net of interfund transfers). The highlights for the major funds are outlined in the table below.

2022 City of Canandaigua Proposed Budget
HIGHLIGHTS - MAJOR FUNDS
Change
General Fund

2021

Assessed Value
Tax Levy
Tax Rate
Budget
Appropriated Fund Balance
Water Fund
Water Rate (per 1000 gallons)
Minimum Bill
Budget-(Net of Capital Reserves)
Appropriated Fund Balance

721,823,289
5,692,300
7.87184
15,509,794
(749,747)

2022
802,753,380
5,958,077
7.40840
16,713,593
(684,586)

$

%

80,930,091
265,777
(0.46)
1,203,799
65,161

$

3.383 $
3.806 $
37.89
42.63
3,774,153
4,023,373
(160,073)
(154,304)

$

4.5000 $
4.5000
50.40
50.40
2,708,937
2,907,398
(148,269)
(252,040)

11.21%
4.67%
-5.89%
7.76%
-8.69%

0.423
4.74
249,220
5,768

12.50%
12.50%
6.60%
-3.60%

198,461
(103,771)

0.00%
0.00%
7.33%
69.99%

Sewer Fund
Sewer Rate (per 1000 gallons)
Minimum Bill
Budget-(Net of Capital Reserves)
Appropriated Fund Balance
Total Water and Sewer Charges
Minimum Bill (Based on 11,200 gallons)

$

88.29 $

93.03 $

4.74

5.37%

From the 2022 City Manager Budget Message:
“At the beginning of August when City Staff began preparing this budget my direction/guidance was to take The
Rolling Stone approach: “You can’t always get what you want, but if you try sometimes, well, you might find, you get
what you need.” A theme quickly emerged from the Departmental requests; we need more help and we need to become
more resilient. A lesson learned over the last two years is that we are more vulnerable to adversities that could
severely or completely limit our ability to provide services to the community which would ultimately result in
detrimental impacts to the health, safety and welfare of our community. As such, the intent behind new positions and
certain capital investments is to begin to build a more resilient organization that can better adjust to adversity. “
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The general fund revenue budget increased by 8.6% primarily due to the opening of the economy and restoration of
state aid. The general fund expenditure budget increased by 7.8%. The City included 4 new staffing positions in the
budget and restored $100,000 to the capital reserve which was cut last year. The City restored and expanded City
programs and services in 2022. The budget was balanced by increasing the tax levy by 4.61% and the use of
appropriated fund balance in the amount of $684,586.
The water rate was increased 12.5% while the sewer rates remained unchanged. Staffing was increased by 1 position
in each fund. Appropriated fund balance in the amount of $154,304 and $252,040 respectively will be used to offset
budget deficits.
The economic factors that will affect us in 2022 will be the rising inflation on goods and services. We will make
adjustments as necessary to stay within our budget appropriations. Another factor affecting our services is the
availability of supplies. This may result in postponing projects and capital purchases to future budgets.
REQUESTS FOR INFORMATION
This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of the City’s finances. Questions and comments
concerning any of the information provided in this report should be addressed to John D. Goodwin, City Manager or
Nancy C Abdallah, CPA, Treasurer/Director of Finance, City of Canandaigua, 2 North Main St., Canandaigua, NY
14424.
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CITY OF CANANDAIGUA, ONTARIO COUNTY, NEW YORK
Statement of Net Postion
December 31, 2021
Governmental

Business-Type

Activities

Activities

ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents

$

7,691,817

Accounts receivable, net
Prepaid items

$

Total

7,289,019

$

14,980,836

2,185,388

1,853,754

4,039,142

423,096

110,202

533,298

4,446,402

781,150

5,227,552

35,821,472

18,315,133

54,136,605

Capital assets:
Land and work in progress
Other capital assets, net of depreciation
TOTAL ASSETS

$

50,568,175

$

28,349,258

$

78,917,433

$

9,325,534

$

1,331,351

$

10,656,885

$

905,365

$

182,353

$

1,087,718

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Deferred outflows of resources
LIABILITIES
Accounts payable and other current liabilities
Accrued liabilities

240,065

37,496

277,561

Unearned revenue

59,337

-

59,337

568,688

-

568,688

1,009,013

1,005,085

2,014,098

21,341,337

9,114,997

30,456,334

Other liabilities
Noncurrent liabilities:
Due in one year
Due in more than one year
TOTAL LIABILITIES

$

24,123,805

$

10,339,931

$

34,463,736

$

7,690,583

$

1,677,065

$

9,367,648

$

31,693,874

$

10,301,049

$

41,994,923

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Deferred inflows of resources
NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets
Restricted for:
Restricted other purposes

1,565,590

Unrestricted
TOTAL NET POSITION

6,592,970

(5,180,143)
$

28,079,321

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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8,158,560

769,594
$

17,663,613

(4,410,549)
$

45,742,934

CITY OF CANANDAIGUA, ONTARIO COUNTY, NEW YORK
Statement of Activities
For the Year Ended December 31, 2021

Functions/Programs
Primary Government:
Governmental Activities:
General government support
Public safety
Transportation
Economic assistance and development
Culture and recreation
Home and community services
Interest on long-term debt
Total Governmental Activities
Business-Type Activities:
Water fund
Sewer fund
Total Business-Type Activities
Total Primary Government

Expenses

$

Program Revenues
Operating
Capital
Charges for
Grants and
Grants and
Services
Contributions
Contributions

2,987,482
7,021,374
3,284,486
237,912
1,481,271
1,842,516
274,536
$ 17,129,577

$

$

2,907,409
2,762,820
5,670,229

$

$ 22,799,806

$

454,509
1,048,088
4,400
224,398
694,673
2,426,068

$

$

$

3,326,740
2,777,659
6,104,399

$

8,530,467

$

17,215
4,485
128,318
19,500
157,578
327,096

$

$

$

-

$

327,096

$

877
501,630
502,507

$

$

$

1,020
317,725
318,745

$

821,252

$

$

$

General Revenues:
Taxes:
Property taxes
Non-property taxes
Mortgage tax
Unallocated state and federal aid
Use of money and property
Miscellaneous
Total General Revenues
Special Items and Transfers:
Transfers
Total General Revenues and Special Items and Transfers
Change in Net Position

Net (Expense) Revenue and Changes in Net Position
Primary Government
Governmental
Business-Type
Activities
Activities
Total

-

$

$

$

420,351
332,564
752,915

(13,873,906)

$

752,915

$

(13,120,991)

$

$

27,040
15,226
42,266

$

$

5,942,231
5,871,364
291,196
1,175,269
180,783
250,149
13,710,992

$

5,942,231
5,871,364
291,196
1,175,269
207,823
265,375
13,753,258

$
$

290,000
14,000,992

$
$

(290,000)
(247,734)

$
$

13,753,258

$

127,086

$

505,181

$

632,267

$

$

Net Position - Beginning

-

$

$
$

27,952,235

Net Position - Ending
The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

(2,515,758)
(5,967,924)
(2,650,138)
(218,412)
(1,256,873)
(990,265)
(274,536)
(13,873,906)

$
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28,079,321

$

$

17,158,432
$

17,663,613

(2,515,758)
(5,967,924)
(2,650,138)
(218,412)
(1,256,873)
(990,265)
(274,536)
(13,873,906)
420,351
332,564
752,915

45,110,667
$

45,742,934

CITY OF CANANDAIGUA, ONTARIO COUNTY, NEW YORK
Balance Sheet
Governmental Funds
December 31, 2021
Major
Capital
Projects
Fund

General
Fund
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Receivables, net
Due from other governments, net
State and federal aid receivable
Prepaid items
Total Assets

$

$

Liabilities, Deferred Inflows, and Fund Balances
Liabilities:
Accounts payable and other current liabilities
Accrued liabilities
Due to other governments
Unearned revenue
Total Liabilities
Deferred Inflows:
Deferred Inflows of Resources
Fund Balances:
Nonspendable
Restricted
Assigned
Unassigned
Total Fund Balances
Total Liabilities, Deferred Inflows, and
Fund Balances

$

6,905,389
405,930
943,356
83,336
418,955
8,756,966

$

862,940
229,962
1,044

$

$

Nonmajor
Governmental
Funds

41,053
501,630
542,683

$

542,683
-

$

$

Total
Governmental
Funds

745,375
149,905
27,200
74,031
4,141
1,000,652

$

67,386
1,556
-

$

$

7,691,817
555,835
970,556
658,997
423,096
10,300,301

1,473,009
231,518
1,044

$

1,093,946

$

542,683

$

23,815
92,757

$

23,815
1,729,386

$

35,522

$

-

$

142,111

$

177,633

$

$

$

4,141
591,290
170,353
765,784

$

$

-

$

$

418,955
974,300
797,437
5,436,806
7,627,498

423,096
1,565,590
967,790
5,436,806
8,393,282

$

8,756,966

$

542,683

$

1,000,652

$

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the
statement of net position are different because:
Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial
resources and therefore are not reported in the funds.

40,267,874

Interest is accrued on outstanding bonds in the statement of net assets
but not in the funds.

(8,547)

Accounts receivable - HUD loans

142,111

The following long-term obligations are not due and payable in the current
period, therefore are not reported in the governmental funds:
Serial Bonds Payable
Deferred Inflows - Pensions
Deferred Outflows - Pensions
Deferred Inflows - OPEB
Deferred Outflows - OPEB
Pension Liability
OPEB Liability
Compensated absences are not reported in the funds under fund
accounting but are expensed as the liability is incurred in the statement
of net position.
Net Position of Governmental Activities
The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
18

(8,574,000)
(7,376,605)
7,260,636
(313,978)
2,064,898
(1,614,250)
(11,502,049)

$

(660,051)
28,079,321

CITY OF CANANDAIGUA, ONTARIO COUNTY, NEW YORK
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances
Governmental Funds
For the Year Ended December 31, 2021
Major
Capital
Projects
Fund

General
Fund
Revenues:
Real property and tax items
Non-property taxes
Departmental income
Intergovernmental charges
Use of money and property
Licenses and permits
Fines and forfeitures
Sale of property and compensation for loss
Miscellaneous
Interfund revenues
State and county aid
Federal aid
Total Revenues
Expenditures:
Current:
General government support
Public safety
Transportation
Economic assistance and development
Culture and recreation
Home and community services
Employee benefits
Debt Service:
Debt service - principal
Debt service - interest and other charges
Total Expenditures
Excess (deficiency) of revenue
over expenditures
Other Financing Sources and Uses:
Transfers - in
Transfers - out
Total Other Financing
Sources and Uses
Net change in fund balances

$

$

$

$

1,788,178
4,197,248
973,917
204,541
842,289
1,030,021
3,653,879

$

$

12,690,073

$

$

Total
Governmental
Funds

501,630
501,630

$

116,221
163,459
121,013
11,419
177,578
589,690

$

68,125
744,066
1,500,887
184,039
-

$

186,919
22,393
388,603
35,311

$

$

2,497,117

3,232,090

$

$

290,000
(3,193,032)

$

(2,903,032)

$

Fund Balance - Beginning
Fund Balance - Ending

5,942,231
5,871,364
765,908
772,152
59,770
119,843
146,837
220,479
17,691
388,528
1,616,483
877
15,922,163

Nonmajor
Governmental
Funds

329,058

7,627,498

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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$

2,043,222
4,941,314
2,474,804
226,934
1,026,328
1,418,624
3,689,190

$

1,153,600
275,883
2,062,709

$

(1,995,487)

$

(1,473,019)

$

(236,416)

$

1,995,487
-

$

1,197,545
-

$

3,483,032
(3,193,032)

$

1,995,487

$

1,197,545

$

290,000

$

-

$

$

53,584

7,298,440
$

$

5,942,231
5,871,364
882,129
935,611
180,783
119,843
146,837
220,479
29,110
388,528
2,295,691
877
17,013,483

$

-

(275,474)
1,041,258

$

765,784

1,153,600
275,883
17,249,899

8,339,698
$

8,393,282

CITY OF CANANDAIGUA, ONTARIO COUNTY, NEW YORK
Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and
Changes in Fund Balances of Governmental Funds
to the Statement of Activities
For the Year Ended December 31, 2021
Net Change in Fund Balances - Total Governmental Funds

$

53,584

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of
activities are different because:
Governmental funds report capital outlay as expenditures. However, in the statement
of activities the cost of those assets is allocated over their estimated useful lives and
reported as depreciation expense. This is the amount by which depreciation exceeded
capital outlays in the current period.
Addition of assets, net
Depreciation

$ 2,252,456
(2,933,712)
(681,256)

Bond and installment purchase debt proceeds provide current financial resources to governmental funds, but issuing
debt increases long-term obligations in the statement of net position. Repayment of bond principal is an
expenditure in the governmental funds, but the repayment reduces long-term obligations in the statement of net position
The following details these items as they effect the governmental activities:
Debt repayment

1,153,600

The net OPEB liability does not require the use of current financial resources, and therefore, is not reported
as an expenditure in the governmental funds.

(434,334)

Amounts received from borrowers on the City's HUD loan program are recorded as revenues in the governmental
funds, but are recorded against the loan recievable balance in the statement of net position

(46,820)

(Increase) decrease in proportionate share of net pension asset/liability reported in the
statement of Activities do not provide for or require the use of current financial resources
and therefore are not reported as revenues and expenditures in the governmental funds:
Employees' Retirement System
Police and Fire Retirement System

140,571
(67,586)

Compensated absences represents the value of the earned and unused portion of the
liability for vacation and compensatory time. They are reported in the statement of
activities but do not require the use of current financial resources and therefore are
not reported as expenditures in governmental funds. This is the net change of
compensated absences.

7,980

In the statement of activities, interest is accrued on outstanding bonds, whereas in
governmental funds, an interest expenditure is reported when due.

1,347

Change in Net Position of Governmental Activities

$

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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127,086

CITY OF CANANDAIGUA, ONTARIO COUNTY, NEW YORK
Statement of Net Position
Proprietary Funds
December 31, 2021

ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable, net
Due from other governments
Prepaid items
Capital assets:
Land and work in progress
Other capital assets, net of depreciation
TOTAL ASSETS

$

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Deferred outflow of resources
LIABILITIES
Accounts payable and other current liabilities
Accrued liabilities
Noncurrent liabilities:
Due in one year
Due in more than one year
TOTAL LIABILITIES
DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Deferred inflows of resources
NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets
Restricted for:
Restricted for debt
Capital reserve
Unrestricted
TOTAL NET POSITION

Business-Type Activities
Sewer
Water
Fund
Fund
5,565,998
$
1,723,021
466,850
869,543
517,361
56,919
53,283

$

415,518
9,405,736
16,428,382

$

$

$

365,632
8,909,397
11,920,876

$

781,150
18,315,133
28,349,258

479,120

$

852,231

$

1,331,351

110,058
15,600

$

72,295
21,896

$

182,353
37,496

$

610,694
4,394,922
5,131,274

$

394,391
4,720,075
5,208,657

$

1,005,085
9,114,997
10,339,931

$

691,796

$

985,269

$

1,677,065

$

5,029,468

$

5,271,581

10,301,049

$

50,214
5,245,699
759,051
11,084,432

$

41,007
1,256,050
10,543
6,579,181

91,221
6,501,749
769,594
17,663,613

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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Total
Business-Type
Activities
$
7,289,019
1,336,393
517,361
110,202

$

CITY OF CANANDAIGUA, ONTARIO COUNTY, NEW YORK
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Net Position
Proprietary Funds
For the Year Ended December 31, 2021
Business-Type Activities
Sewer
Water
Fund
Fund
Operating Revenues:
Charges for services
TOTAL OPERATING REVENUE
Operating Expenses:
Salaries
Benefits
Purchased services
Depreciation
Other expenses
TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSE
OPERATING INCOME OR (LOSS)
Nonoperating Revenue (Expense):
Intergovernmental revenue
Interest
Sale of property and compensation for loss
Miscellaneous
Debt service interest
TOTAL NONOPERATING
REVENUE (EXPENSE)
Income (Loss) Before Operating Transfers

$
$

2,760,179
2,760,179

$
$

3,316,875
3,316,875

$
$

6,077,054
6,077,054

$

$

$

777,118
414,940
1,052,587
483,699
57,581
2,785,925

$

$

506,678
219,041
972,603
882,860
54,912
2,636,094

$

1,283,796
633,981
2,025,190
1,366,559
112,493
5,422,019

$

124,085

$

530,950

$

655,035

$

317,725
13,030
12,550
17,480
(126,726)

$

1,020
14,010
2,676
9,865
(121,484)

$

318,745
27,040
15,226
27,345
(248,210)

$

234,059

$

(93,913)

$

140,146

$

358,144

$

437,037

$

795,181

Transfers out (to governmental funds)
CHANGE IN NET POSITION

$

TOTAL NET POSITION, BEGINNING
TOTAL NET POSITION, ENDING

Total
Business-Type
Activities

358,144

(290,000)
$

10,726,288
$

11,084,432

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
22

147,037

(290,000)
$

6,432,144
$

6,579,181

505,181
17,158,432

$

17,663,613

CITY OF CANANDAIGUA, ONTARIO COUNTY, NEW YORK
Statement of Cash Flows
Proprietary Funds
For the Year Ended December 31, 2021

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Cash received for services provided
Cash payments to suppliers for goods and services
Cash payments to employees
NET CASH PROVIDED (USED) BY OPERATING
ACTIVITIES
CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND
RELATED FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
County capital contribution
Interfund Transfer
Interest expense
(Purchase) or sale of property and equipment
Principal payments on bonds
Other Receipts
NET CASH PROVIDED (USED) BY CAPITAL
AND RELATED FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Business-Type Activities
Sewer
Water
Fund
Fund

Total
Business-Type
Activities

$

2,705,602
(955,450)
(787,616)

$

$

6,036,631
(2,048,541)
(2,030,017)

$

962,536

$

995,537

$

1,958,073

$

317,725
(142,601)
(389,398)
(592,000)
21,288

$

(290,000)
(123,021)
(280,228)
(349,400)
12,228

$

$

(784,986)

$ (1,030,421)

$ (1,848,923)

3,331,029
(1,093,091)
(1,242,401)

317,725
(290,000)
(265,622)
(669,626)
(941,400)
33,516

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Interest income
NET CASH PROVIDED (USED) BY INVESTING ACTIVITIES

$
$

9,222
9,222

$
$

12,667
12,667

$
$

21,889
21,889

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

$

186,772

$

(22,217)

$

164,555

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - BEGINNING

5,379,226

1,745,238

7,124,464

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - ENDING

$

5,565,998

$

1,723,021

$

7,289,019

OPERATING INCOME (LOSS)

$

124,085

$

530,950

$

655,035

$

882,860
(54,577)
1,718
(100,161)
74,346
529,371
(23,306)
(471,800)
838,451
962,536

$

483,699
14,154
(4,559)
(318,775)
14,066
650,855
199,732
(574,585)
464,587
995,537

$

ADJUSTMENT TO RECONCILE INCOME TO
NET CASH BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES Depreciation
(Increase) decrease in accounts receivable
(Increase) decrease in prepaid items
(Increase) decrease in deferred outflow
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Increase (decrease) in deferred inflow
Increase (decrease) in net OPEB liability
Increase (decrease) in net pension liability
TOTAL ADJUSTMENTS
NET CASH PROVIDED (USED) BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES
The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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$
$

$
$

1,366,559
(40,423)
(2,841)
(418,936)
88,412
1,180,226
176,426
(1,046,385)
$ 1,303,038
$ 1,958,073

CITY OF CANANDAIGUA, ONTARIO COUNTY, NEW YORK
Statement of Fiduciary Net Position
Fiduciary Funds
December 31, 2021

Custodial
Funds
ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents

$

4,054

TOTAL ASSETS

$

4,054

Other liabilities

$

4,054

TOTAL LIABILITIES

$

4,054

Individuals, organizations, and other governments

$

-

TOTAL NET POSITION

$

-

LIABILITIES

NET POSITION
Restricted for:

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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CITY OF CANANDAIGUA, ONTARIO COUNTY, NEW YORK
Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position
Fiduciary Funds
For the Year Ended December 31, 2021

Custodial
Funds
ADDITIONS
Fees collected for New York State

$

Taxes collected for other municipalities

4,044
5,309,361

TOTAL ADDITIONS

$

5,313,405

$

4,044

DEDUCTIONS
Fees collected for New York State
Taxes distributed to County

4,798,331

Taxes distributed to School District

511,030

TOTAL DEDUCTIONS
Change in net position

$

5,313,405

$

-

NET POSITION - BEGINNING

-

NET POSITION - ENDING

$

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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CITY OF CANANDAIGUA, ONTARIO COUNTY, NEW YORK
Notes To The Basic Financial Statements
December 31, 2021

I.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies:

The financial statements of the City of Canandaigua, Ontario County, New York (the City) have been prepared
in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) as applied to government units. The Governmental
Accounting Standards Board (GASB) is the accepted standard setting body for establishing governmental accounting and
financial reporting principles. The more significant of the City's accounting policies are described below.
A.

Financial Reporting Entity

The City is governed by its charter of the City of Canandaigua, the General City Law, other general
laws of the State of New York and various local laws and ordinances. The City Council, which is the legislative
body responsible for the overall operation of the City, consists of the Mayor and eight Councilpersons. The City
manager serves as Chief Administrative Officer and Chief Fiscal Officer of the City.
The City provides the following basic services to all residents of the City: police protection and law
enforcement, firefighting and prevention, a water treatment plant and distribution system, a sewage treatment
plant and collection system, a traffic control system, street lighting, a street maintenance force (including
construction, repair and snow/ice removal), recreation facilities and programs, refuse and garbage removal,
community development and a staff to provide the necessary support for these services.
All governmental activities and functions performed by the City are its direct responsibility, no other
governmental organizations have been included or excluded from the reporting entity.
The City defines its reporting entity in accordance with GASB Statement No. 14 as amended by GASB
Statement No. 39 of the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB), Financial Reporting Entity. The
statements define the primary government, and redefine and establish the criteria for which potential component
units are included in the reporting entity. They also define financial accountability of the primary government as
being determined on the basis of fiscal dependency, appointment of a voting majority of a governing board,
ability to impose its will or potential for the organization to provide specific financial benefits to, or to impose
specific financial burdens on, the primary government. Based on the criteria under this Statement, there are no
component units required to be included in the reporting entity.
B.

Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting, and Financial Statement Presentation
1.

Government-Wide Statements

The Statement of Net Position and the Statement of Activities display information about the
City as a whole. These statements include the financial activities of the primary government, except for
Fiduciary Funds.
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( I. ) (Continued)
The government-wide statements are prepared using the economic resources measurement
focus. This is the same approach used in the preparation of the Proprietary Fund Financial statements
but differs from the manner in which governmental fund financial statements are prepared.
Governmental fund financial statements therefore include a reconciliation with brief explanations to
better identify the relationship between the government –wide statements and the statements for
governmental funds.
The government-wide statement of activities presents a comparison between direct expenses
and program revenues for each function or program of the City’s governmental activities. Direct
expenses are those that are specifically associated with a service, program, or department and are
therefore clearly identifiable to a particular function. Program revenues include charges paid by the
recipient of the goods or services offered by the program and grants and contributions that are restricted
to meeting the operational or capital requirements of a particular program. Revenues which are not
classified as program revenues are presented as general revenues of the City. The comparison of direct
expenses with program revenues identifies the extent to which governmental function is self-financing
or draws from the general operating fund.
2.

Fund Financial Statements

Fund financial statements report detailed information about the City. The focus of
governmental fund financial statements is on major funds rather than reporting funds by type. Each
major fund is reported in a separate column. Nonmajor funds are aggregated and presented in a single
column. Business-type activities are aggregated and presented in a single column on the face of the
Proprietary Fund Statements. Fiduciary Funds are reported by fund type.
The Governmental Funds are accounted for on the “flow of current financial resources”
measurement focus. This measurement focus is based on the concept of accountability, which includes
measuring interperiod equity whether current year revenues were sufficient to pay for current year
services. The Proprietary Fund is accounted for on an “economic resources” measurement focus.
Accordingly, the Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Fund Net Position for the
Proprietary Fund Reports increases and decreases in total economic net worth. The private purpose trust
fund is reported using the economic resources measurement focus.
a.
Governmental Funds - Governmental funds are those major and non-major funds
through which most governmental functions are financed. The acquisition, use and balances of
expendable financial resources and the related liabilities are accounted for through
governmental funds. The measurement focus of the governmental funds is upon determination
of financial position and changes in financial position. The following are the City's
governmental fund types.
1.

Major Governmental Funds
General Fund - the principal operating fund that includes all operations not
required to be recorded in other funds.
Capital Projects Fund - used to account for financial resources to be used for
the acquisition, construction or renovation of capital facilities; or the
acquisition of equipment.
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2.

Non-Major Governmental Funds
The other funds which do not meet the major fund criteria are aggregated and
reported as non-major other governmental funds. The following are reported
as non-major other governmental funds.
Debt Service Fund - used to account for financial resources accumulated in
a reserve for payment of future principal and interest on long-term
indebtedness.
Special Revenue Funds - used to account for taxes, user fees, or other
revenues which are raised or received to provide special services to areas that
may or may not encompass the whole City. The following are non-major
special revenue funds utilized by the City:
Watershed Program
Parks & Open Spaces
Energy Projects

b.

Technology
Community Development
Cemetery

Fiduciary Funds

Fiduciary funds are used to account for assets held by the local government in a
trustee or custodial capacity.
Custodial Fund – is custodial in nature and does not present results of operations
or have measurement focus. The Custodial Fund is accounted for using the
modified accrual basis of accounting. This fund is used to account for assets that
the government holds for others in an agency capacity.
c.

Proprietary Funds

Proprietary funds are used to account for ongoing organizations and activities, which
are operated and financed in a manner similar to those found in the private sector. The
measurement focus is upon the determination of net income. Proprietary funds distinguish
operating revenues and expenses from nonoperating items. Operating revenues and expenses
generally result from providing services and producing and delivering goods in connection with
a Proprietary Funds’ principal ongoing operations. Operating expenses include salaries,
benefits, administrative expenses, claims paid. All items not meeting this definition are
reported as nonoperating revenues and expenses.
Enterprise Funds – are used to account for those operations that provide a service and
are financed primarily by a user charge for that service. The City’s Enterprise Fund
includes the Water and Sewer Funds.
3.

Basis of Accounting

Basis of accounting determines when transactions are recorded in the financial records and
reported on the financial statements. Government-wide financial statements are prepared using the
accrual basis of accounting. Governmental funds use the modified accrual basis of accounting.
Proprietary and Fiduciary Funds also use the accrual basis of accounting.
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a.

Modified Accrual

Under the modified accrual basis, revenues are recognized in the accounting period in
which they become susceptible to accrual, i.e., both available and measurable. “Measurable”
means the amount of the transaction can be determined and “available” means collectible
within the current period or soon enough thereafter to be used to pay liabilities of the current
period. Significant revenues susceptible to accrual include ad valorem taxes, reimbursable- type
grants, City clerk fees and snow and ice reimbursements. The City considers all revenues as
available if collected within one year from the balance sheet date. Property taxes are recognized
when taxes are received. Expenditures (including capital outlay) are recorded when the related
fund liability is incurred, except for general obligation bond principal and interest which are
reported when due and compensated absences which are recorded when due/paid.
In applying the susceptible to accrual concept to revenues from Federal and State
sources, the legal contractual requirements of the numerous individual programs are used as
guidance. Revenue from grants and entitlements is recognized when all eligibility requirements
have been satisfied. There are, however, essentially two types of these revenues. In one,
monies must be expended for the specific purpose or project before the City will receive any
amounts; therefore, revenues are recognized based upon the occurrence of expenditures. In the
other type, monies are virtually unrestricted as to purpose of expenditure and are usually
revocable only for failure to comply with prescribed legal and contractual requirements. These
resources are reflected as revenues at the time of receipt or earlier if the susceptible to accrual
criteria are met. In all cases, monies received before the revenue recognition criteria have been
met are reported as deferred revenue.
b.

Accrual

Proprietary and Fiduciary Funds are accounted for using the accrual basis of
accounting. Under this basis of accounting, revenues are recognized in the period earned and
expenses are recognized in the period incurred regardless of the timing of cash inflows and
outflows. Capital assets, the related debt and other long-term liabilities related to activities of
the Proprietary and Fiduciary fund types are recorded within these funds.
Operating revenues and expenses generally result from the proprietary funds’ principal
operations, providing services and producing and delivering goods. Non-operating revenues
and expenses are reported as capital and related financing activities, noncapital financing
activities, or investing activities which normally would not be reported as components of
operating income.
C.

Assets, Liabilities, and Equity
1.

Cash and Investments

The City’s cash and cash equivalents are considered to be cash on hand, demand deposits and
short-term investments with original maturities of three months or less from the date of acquisition.
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State statutes authorize the City to invest in obligations of the U.S. Treasury and U.S. Agencies,
repurchase agreements and obligations of New York State or its political subdivisions.
Investments are stated at cost, which approximates market value.
2.

Receivables

In the government-wide statements, receivables consist of all revenues earned at year end and
not yet received. Allowances for uncollectible accounts receivable are based upon historical trends and
the periodic aging of accounts receivable. Major receivable balances for the governmental activities
include taxes, sales tax, and state aid.
Accounts receivable are shown gross, with uncollectible amounts recognized under the direct
write-off method. No allowance for uncollectible accounts has been provided since it is believed that
such allowance would not be material.
3.

Prepaid Items

Certain payments to vendors reflect costs applicable to future accounting periods and are
recorded as prepaid items in both government-wide and fund financial statements.
4.

Capital Assets

Capital assets represent the cumulative amount of capital assets owned by the City. Purchased
assets are recorded as expenditures in the fund financial statements and are capitalized at cost on the
government-wide statement of net position. In the case of gifts or contributions, such assets are recorded
at fair market value at the time received.
Prior to January 1, 2004, governmental funds’ infrastructure assets were not capitalized. These
assets (back to January 1, 1974) have been valued at estimated historical cost.
A capitalization threshold of $10,000 is used to report capital assets. Other costs incurred for
repairs and maintenance are expensed as incurred. All reported capital assets except land and
construction in progress are depreciated. Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over
the following estimated useful lives:

Class
Buildings
Water & Sewer System/Infrastructure
Equipment

5.

Estimated
Useful Life
40 Years
50 Years
4-20 Years

Unearned Revenue/Overpayments

The City reports unearned revenues in its basic financial statements. Unearned revenue arises
when a potential revenue does not meet both the measurable and available criteria for recognition in the
current period. Unearned revenue also arises when resources are received by the City before it has a
legal claim to them, as when grant monies are received prior to the incurrence of qualifying
expenditures. In subsequent periods, when both recognition criteria are met, or when the City has legal
claim to resources, the liability for unearned revenue is removed and revenue is recognized.
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6.

Deferred Outflows and Inflows of Resources

In addition to assets, the Statement of Net Position will sometimes report a separate section for
deferred outflows of resources. This separate financial statement element, deferred outflows of
resources, represents a consumption of net position that applies to a future period and so will not be
recognized as an outflow of resources (expenses/expenditure) until then.
In addition to liabilities, the statement of net position will sometimes report a separate section
for deferred inflows of resources. This separate financial statement element, deferred inflows of
resources, represents an acquisition of net position that applies to a future period(s) and so will not be
recognized as an inflow of resources (revenue) until that time.
7.

Accrued Liabilities and Long-Term Obligations

Payables, accrued liabilities and long-term obligations are reported in the City-wide financial
statements. In the governmental funds, payables and accrued liabilities are paid in a timely manner and
in full from current financial resources. Claims and judgments, other post-employment benefits payable
and compensated absences that will be paid from governmental funds are reported as a liability in the
funds financial statements only to the extent that they are due for payment in the current year. Bonds
and other long-term obligations that will be paid from governmental funds are recognized as a liability
in the fund financial statements when due.
Long-term obligations represent the City’s future obligations or future economic outflows. The
liabilities are reported as due in one year or due within more than one year in the Statement of Net
Position.
a.

Compensatory Absences

City employees are granted vacation and sick leave and earn compensatory absences in
varying amounts. In the event of termination or upon retirement, an employee is entitled to
payment for accumulated vacation and sick leave and unused compensatory absences at various
rates subject to certain maximum limitations.
Compensated absences for governmental fund type employees are reported as a
liability and expenditure in the government-wide financial statements are dependent on many
factors; therefore, the timing of future payments is not readily determinable. However,
management believes that sufficient resources will be made available for the payment of
compensated absences when such payments become due.
Compensated absences are accrued when incurred in the proprietary funds and are
recognized when paid in the governmental funds.
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b.

Postemployment Benefits

In addition to providing pension benefits, the City provides certain health care benefits
to retired employees. Retired employees with at least 15 years of service are allowed to
participate in the City’s group medical insurance plan until they reach the age of 65. Retired
employees reaching age 65 may continue participation in the plan but must reimburse the City
for the premium. The City recognizes the cost of providing these benefits by expensing the
annual insurance premiums which totaled $518,090 for 26 retirees and/or their surviving
spouses for the year ended December 31, 2021.
8.

Encumbrances

For financial reporting purposes encumbrances have been reclassified to assigned fund balance
on the governmental funds for general fund and assigned or restricted fund balance in the capital fund.
Encumbrance accounting, under which purchase orders, contracts or other commitments for the
expenditure of monies are recorded for budgetary control purposes to reserve that portion of the
applicable appropriations, is employed in the general, City-wide capital improvement project and
nonmajor funds.
9.

Equity Classifications
a.

Government-Wide and Proprietary Fund Statements
Equity is classified as net position and displayed in three components:

b.

1.

Net investment in capital assets - consists of capital assets net of
accumulated depreciation, reduced by the outstanding balances of any bonds,
notes or other borrowings that are attributable to the acquisition, construction,
or improvement of those assets. Additionally, deferred outflows of resources
and deferred inflows of resources that are attributable to the acquisition,
construction, or improvement of those assets or related debt should be
included in this component of net position.

2.

Restricted net position - consists of restricted assets (i.e. restrictions
imposed by (1). external groups such as creditors, grantors, contributors, or
laws or regulations of other governments; or (2) law through constitutional
provisions or enable legislation) reduced by liabilities and deferred inflows
related to those assets.

3.

Unrestricted net position - consists of the net amount of the assets, deferred
outflows of resources, liabilities, and deferred inflows of resources that are not
included in the determination of net investments in capital assets or the
restricted component of net position.

Financial Statements –Fund Balance

The following classifications describe the relative strength of the spending
constraints placed on the purposes for which resources can be used.
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c.

2.

Nonspendable fund balance – Amounts that are not in a spendable form (i.e.
inventory or prepaids) or are legally or contractually required to be maintained
intact.

3.

Restricted fund balance – Amounts constrained to specific purposes by their
providers (such as grantors, bondholders, and higher levels of government),
through constitutional provisions, or by enabling legislation.

4.

Assigned fund balance – Amounts a government intends to use for a specific
purpose; intent can be expressed by the Board or by an official or body to
which the Board delegates the authority.

5.

Unassigned fund balance – Amounts that are available for City purposes
pursuant to any Municipal Law restrictions. Any positive amounts are
reported only in the general fund.

The Board has passed the following policies that relate to GASB No. 54:
1.

Assigned fund balance – The purchasing agent is responsible for all of the
purchasing activities of the City and therefore, is designated as having the
authority to assign amounts intended to be used for a specific purpose.
(Encumbrances at year-end will now be considered assigned funds.)
The City Council has the authority to assign fund balance for the purpose of
tax reduction on an annual basis. (Appropriation of fund balance for ensuing
year’s budget)

2.

Spending policy – Resources will generally be spent from Budgetary
Appropriations first. Utilization of reserve funds will be determined based on
the legal appropriation of such funds which require either the City Board
and/or City voter approval. Furthermore, assigned amounts will be considered
expended when the transaction for which the assignment was made does
occur.

3.

Order of fund balance – The City’s policy is to apply expenditures against
nonspendable fund balance, restricted fund balance, assigned fund balance and
unassigned fund balance at the end of the fiscal year.
For all funds, nonspendable fund balances are determined first and then
restricted fund balances for specific purposes are determined. Special revenue
fund balances are classified as assigned, and any remaining fund balance
amounts other than the General Fund are classified as restricted.
In the General Fund, assigned fund balance is determined before the
remaining amounts which are reported as unassigned. Assignments of fund
balance cannot cause a negative unassigned fund balance.
It is possible for the funds to have negative unassigned fund balance when
nonspendable amounts plus the restricted fund balances for specific purposes
amounts exceed the positive fund balance.
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D.

Revenues, Expenditures/Expenses
1.

Revenues

Real property taxes are levied annually no later than December 15 and become a lien on May 1.
Taxes are collected during the period May 1 to December 17. Taxes which remain unpaid after the
collection period are enforced pursuant to the tax sale provisions in the City charter.
In addition to the liens for taxes levied for City purposes, the City assumes full enforcement
responsibility for taxes levied by the County of Ontario and the Canandaigua City School District on
properties within the City. The City pays to the County the full amount of the taxes to be collected on
their behalf. Unpaid County and School District liens are added to liens for City taxes at the time of tax
sales.
The City is permitted by the Constitution of New York State to levy taxes up to 2% of the fiveyear average full assessed valuations for general governmental services other than the payment of debt
service and capital expenditures. The City utilizes a full value system, assessing all properties at 100%
of full market value. For the year ended December 31, 2021, the City had a legal margin of
approximately $12,436,152.
No allowance for uncollectible taxes is recorded since such amounts, if any, are considered to
be immaterial in nature. Taxes not collected within 60 days of year-end are recorded as unearned
revenues. These amounts will be recognized as revenue when they are received.
Amounts reported as program revenues include 1) charges to customers or applicants for
goods, services, or privileges provided, 2) operating grants and contributions, and, 3) capital grants and
contributions, including special assessments. Internally dedicated resources are reported as general
revenues rather than as program revenues. Likewise, general revenues include all taxes.
2.

Expenditures/Expenses

In the government-wide financial statements, expenses are classified by function for
governmental activities.
In the fund financial statements, expenditures are classified as follows:
Governmental Funds – By Character:

Current (further classified by function)
Debt Service
Capital outlay

In the fund financial statements, governmental funds report expenditures of financial resources.
Government-wide financial statements report expenses relating to use of economic resources.
E.

Internal and Interfund Balances and Activities

In the process of aggregating the financial information for the government-wide Statement of Net
Position and Statement of Activities, some amounts reported as interfund activity and balances in the fund
financial statements have been eliminated or reclassified.
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1.

Fund Financial Statements

Interfund activity, if any, within and among the governmental and proprietary fund categories
is reported as follows in the fund financial statements:
a.
Interfund loan – amounts provided with a requirement for repayment are reported as
interfund receivables and payables.
b.
Interfund services – sales or purchases of goods and services between funds are
reported as revenues and expenditures/expenses.
c.
Interfund reimbursements – repayments from funds responsible for certain
expenditures to the funds that initially paid for them are not reported as reimbursements but as
adjustments to expenditures/expenses in the respective funds
d.
Interfund transfers – flow of assets from one fund to another where repayment is not
expected are reported as transfers in and out.
2.

Government-Wide Financial Statements

Interfund activity and balances, if any, are eliminated or reclassified in the government-wide
financial statements as follows:
a.
Internal balances – amounts reported in the fund financial statements as interfund
receivables and payables are eliminated in the governmental columns of the Statement of Net
Position, except for the net residual amounts due between governmental funds.
b.
Internal activities – amounts reported as interfund transfers in the fund financial
statements are eliminated in the government-wide Statement of Activities.
F.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect certain reported amounts and disclosures;
accordingly, actual results could differ from those estimates.
G.

New Accounting Standards

The City has adopted all current Statements of the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB)
that are applicable. At December 31, 2021, the City implemented the following new standards issued by GASB:
GASB has issued Statement 89 Accounting for Interest Cost Incurred before the End of a
Construction Period.

GASB has issued Statement 93 Replacement of Interbank Offered Rates Paragraphs 13 and 14.
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H.

Future Changes in Accounting Standards

GASB has issued Statement 87 Leases, which will be effective for reporting periods beginning
after June 15, 2021.
GASB has issued Statement 91 Conduct Debt Obligations, which will be effective for reporting
periods beginning after December 15, 2021.
GASB has issued Statement 92 Omnibus 2020 Paragraphs 6, 7, 8, 9, 10, 12, which will be
effective for reporting periods beginning after June 15, 2021.
GASB has issued Statement 93 Replacement of Interbank Offered Rates Paragraphs 1-11a, and
12, which will be effective for reporting periods beginning after June 15, 2020.
GASB has issued Statement 93 Replacement of Interbank Offered Rates Paragraph 11b, which
will be effective for reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2021.
GASB has issued Statement 94 Public-Privatee and Public-Public Partnerships and Available
Payment Arrangements, which will be effective for reporting periods beginning after June 15, 2022.
GASB has issued Statement 96 Subscription Based Information Technology, which will be
effective for reporting periods beginning after December June 15, 2022.
GASB has issued Statement 97 Certain Component Unit Criteria and Accounting and Financial
Report for Internal Revenue Code Section 457 Deferred Compensation Plans, which will be effective for
reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2021.
The City is currently reviewing these statements and plans on adoption as required.
II.

Stewardship, Compliance and Accountability:

By its nature as a local government unit, the City is subject to various federal, state and local laws and
contractual regulations. An analysis of the City’s compliance with significant laws and regulations and demonstration of
its stewardship over City resources follows:
A.

Budgetary Data

Annual budgets are adopted for the general, tech, capital, and enterprise funds only. Formal annual
budgets are not prepared for the City’s remaining special revenue, debt service and capital projects funds.
1.

Budget Policies - The budget policies are as follows:
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a.
No later than November 1, the budget officer submits a tentative budget to the City
Council the following year commencing the following January 1. The tentative budget includes
appropriations and the proposed means of financing them. The general fund’s budget is
prepared on a departmental basis in which expenditures may not legally exceed appropriations
on a departmental level.
b.
After public hearings are conducted to obtain taxpayer comments, no later than
December 15, the City Council adopts the budget.
c.

All modifications of the budget must be approved by the City Council.

d.
Budgetary controls are established for the capital projects fund through resolutions
authorizing individual projects which remain in effect for the life of the project.
2.

Budget Basis of Accounting

Budget(s) are adopted annually on a basis consistent with generally accepted accounting
principles. Appropriations authorized for the current year are increased by the amount of encumbrances
carried forward from the prior year. Budgetary comparison schedules are presented in the financial
statements.
3.

Revenue Restrictions

The City has various restrictions placed over certain revenue sources from state or local
requirements. The primary restricted revenue sources are those revenues raised for the special district
special revenue funds.
B.

Deposit and Investment Laws and Regulations

The City’s cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand, demand deposits and short-term
investments with original maturities of three months or less from the date of acquisition.
New York State Law governs the City’s investment policies. Resources must be deposited in FDICinsured commercial banks or trust companies located within the State. Permissible investments include
obligations of the United States Treasury, United States Agencies, repurchase agreements and obligations of
New York State or its localities.
Collateral is required for demand and time deposits and certificates of deposit not covered by FDIC
insurance. Obligations that may be pledged as collateral are obligations of the United States and its agencies and
obligations of the State and its municipalities and Districts.
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III.

Detail Notes on All Funds and Account Groups:
A.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Custodial credit risk is the risk that in the event of a bank failure, the City’s deposits may not be
returned to it. While the City does not have a specific policy for custodial credit risk, New York State statutes
govern the City’s investment policies, as discussed previously in these notes.
The City’s aggregate bank balances (disclosed in the financial statements), included balances not
covered by depository insurance at year end, collateralized as follows:

Uncollateralized
Collateralized with Securities held by the Pledging
Financial Institution
Total

$

-

$

10,898,778
10,898,778

Restricted cash represents cash and cash equivalents where use is limited by legal requirements. These
assets represent amounts required by statute to be reserved for various purposes. Restricted cash as of year end
included $1,565,590 within the governmental funds, and $6,592,970 in the proprietary funds.
B.

Investment Pool

The City participates in a multi-municipal cooperative investment pool agreement pursuant to New
York State General Municipal Law Article 5-G, §119-O, whereby it holds a portion of the investments in
cooperation with other participants. The investments are highly liquid and are considered to be cash equivalents.
Total investments of the cooperative as of year end are $1,125,853, which consisted of $128,122 in
repurchase agreements, $672,697 in U.S. Treasury Securities, and $325,034 in collateralized bank deposits, with
various interest rates and due dates.
The following amounts are included as unrestricted and restricted cash:
Fund
General Fund
Business-Type-Sewer Fund
Business-Type-Water Fund
Total

Bank
Balance
$
544,905
443,620
137,328
$ 1,125,853
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Carrying
Amount
$
544,905
443,620
137,328
$ 1,125,853

Type of
Investment
CLASS
CLASS
CLASS
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C.

Receivables

Receivables at December 31, 2021 for individual major and non-major funds consisted of the following, which are stated at net realizable value.
City management has deemed the amounts to be fully collectible:

Description
Receivables Taxes receivable
Rents receivable
Accounts receivable
Allowance for uncollectables
Total Receivables, net
State and Federal Due from state and federal
Other Governments Due from other governments
Total Receivables

D.

General
$

Capital
$

Technology

$

$

$

186,524
231,456
(12,050)
405,930

$

83,336

$ 501,630

$

-

$
943,356
$ 1,432,622

$
$ 501,630

$
$

142,111

$

-

Government Funds
Community
Watershed
Development
Program

$

142,111
142,111

$

$

7,500
7,500

$

Business-Type Activities

$

294
294

74,031

$

-

$ 27,200
$ 108,731

$
$

294

Total
$

Sewer

Water

$

186,524
381,361
(12,050)
555,835

255,166
221,684
(10,000)
$ 466,850

752,405
117,138
$ 869,543

1,007,571
338,822
(10,000)
$ 1,336,393

$

658,997

$

$

$

$
970,556
$ 2,185,388

$

Total

-

$ 517,361
$ 984,211

$

-

$
$ 869,543

Tax Abatement

The County of Ontario IDA, and the City enter into various property tax and sales tax abatement programs for the purpose of Economic
Development. As a result, the City property tax revenue was reduced $529,880. The City received payment in lieu of tax (PILOT) payment totaling
$131,874 to help offset the property tax reduction.
E.

Interfund Receivables, Payables, Revenues, and Expenditures
Interfund revenues and expenditures at December 31, 2021 were as follows:

General Fund
Business-Type - Water Fund
Capital Fund
Debt Service Fund
Total

$

$
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Interfund
Expenditures
Revenues
290,000
$
3,193,032
290,000
1,995,487
1,197,545
3,483,032
$
3,483,032

$

-

$
517,361
$ 1,853,754

( III. ) (Continued)
Interfund receivables and payables between governmental activities are eliminated on the Statement of
Net Position. The City typically loans resources between funds for the purpose of mitigating the effects of
transient cash flow issues. All interfund payables are not necessarily expected to be repaid within one year.
Transfers are used to finance certain capital project expenditures and debt service expenditures.
F.

Changes In Capital Assets
1.

Governmental Activities
A summary of governmental changes in capital assets follows:

Type
Governmental Activities:
Capital Assets that are not Depreciated Land
Work in progress
Total Nondepreciable
Capital Assets that are Depreciated Buildings and Improvements
Machinery and equipment
Infrastructure
Total Depreciated Assets
Less Accumulated Depreciation Buildings and Improvements
Machinery and equipment
Infrastructure
Total Accumulated Depreciation
Total Capital Assets Depreciated, Net
of Accumulated Depreciation
Total Capital Assets

Balance
1/1/21

$
$
$

4,446,402
43,556
4,489,958

Additions

$
$

-

$

681,840
1,459,820
154,351
$ 2,296,011

$

$

719,625
800,870
1,413,217
$ 2,933,712

$

$

11,807,515
5,588,932
43,791,946
61,188,393

$

$
$

36,459,172
40,949,130

$
$

$
$

$

$

$

25,160,580
9,659,271
62,827,714
97,647,565

$

(637,701)
(637,701)

$

43,556
43,556
530,748
530,748
530,749
530,749
(1)
43,555

Depreciation expense for the period was charged to functions/programs as follows:
Governmental Activities:
General Government
Public Safety
Transportation
Economic Oportunity
Culture and Recreation
Home and Community Services
Total Depreciation Expense
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Balance
12/31/21

Deletions

$

$

381,891
408,314
1,769,890
10,978
237,849
124,790
2,933,712

$
$
$

$
$

4,446,402
4,446,402
25,842,420
10,588,343
62,982,065
99,412,828

$

12,527,140
5,859,053
45,205,163
63,591,356

$
$

35,821,472
40,267,874

( III. ) (Continued)
2.

Business-Type Activities
A summary of business-type activity changes in capital assets follows:

Type
Business-Type Activities:
Capital Assets that are not Depreciated Land
Work in progress
Total Nondepreciable
Capital Assets that are Depreciated Buildings and Improvements
Machinery and equipment
Infrastructure
Total Depreciated Assets
Less Accumulated Depreciation Buildings and Improvements
Machinery and equipment
Infrastructure
Total Accumulated Depreciation
Total Capital Assets Depreciated, Net
of Accumulated Depreciation
Total Capital Assets

Balance
1/1/21

$
$

164,072
357,157
521,229

Additions

$
$

$ 36,513,844
5,305,201
23,218,269
$ 65,037,314

$

$ 24,924,444
3,371,998
17,484,111
$ 45,780,553

$

260,636
260,636

$
$

48,815
381,072
429,887

$

804,951
286,317
275,292
$ 1,366,560

$

$ 19,256,761

$

$ 19,777,990

$

$

Balance
12/31/21

Deletions

715
715

$
$

164,072
617,078
781,150

102,913
102,913

$ 36,562,659
5,583,360
23,218,269
$ 65,364,288

$

97,958
97,958

$ 25,729,395
3,560,357
17,759,403
$ 47,049,155

(936,673)

$

4,955

$ 18,315,133

(676,037)

$

5,670

$ 19,096,283

$

Depreciation expense totaling $1,366,560 was charged to home and community services.
G.

Long-Term Debt
At December 31, 2021 the total outstanding obligations of the City aggregated $32,470,432 as follows:
1.

Serial Bonds

The City, borrows money in order to acquire land, high cost equipment, to construct buildings
and improvements, and for infrastructure development and maintenance. This enables the cost of these
capital assets to be borne by the present and future taxpayers receiving the benefit of the capital assets.
These long-term liabilities are supported by the full faith and credit debt of the City. The provision to be
made in future budgets for capital indebtedness represents the amount, exclusive of interest, authorized
to be collected in future years from taxpayers and others for liquidation of the long-term liabilities.
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2.

Interest Reconciliation
A summary of the long-term interest expense as of December 31, 2021 is as follows:
Governmental Activities:
Interest Paid
Less: Interest Accrued in the Prior Year
Plus: Interest Accrued in the Current Year
Total Long-Term Interest Expense - Governmental Activities
Business-Type Activities:
Interest Paid
Total Long-Term Interest Expense - Business-Type Activities

3.

$

$

275,883
(9,894)
8,547
274,536

$
$

248,210
248,210

Other Long-Term Obligations
In addition to long-term bonded debt the City had the following other obligations:
Compensated Absences - represents the value of earned and unused vacation leave and
compensatory time.
OPEB Liability- represents health insurance benefits provided to employees upon retirement.
Net Pension Liability – represents long-term pension liability.

4.

Summary of Debt
The following is a summary of obligations outstanding at December 31, 2021:
Balance
1/1/21

Governmental Activities:
Serial Bonds
Net Pension Liability
Compensated Absences
OPEB
Total Governmental Activities
Business-Type Activities:
Serial Bonds
Net Pension Liability
Compensated Absences
OPEB
Total Business-Type Activities
Total Long-Term Obligations

$

$
$

$
$

Additions

9,727,600
6,325,840
668,031
10,382,645
27,104,116

$

9,597,400
1,050,718
143,653
1,146,985
11,938,756
39,042,872

$

$

$
$

Balance
12/31/21

Deletions

1,119,404
1,119,404

$ 1,153,600
4,711,590
7,980
$ 5,873,170

$

176,426
176,426
1,295,830

$

$

941,400
1,046,385
7,315
$ 1,995,100
$ 7,868,270

$

$
$

Due Within
One Year

8,574,000
1,614,250
660,051
11,502,049
22,350,350

$

844,000
165,013
$ 1,009,013

8,656,000
4,333
136,338
1,323,411
10,120,082
32,470,432

$

971,000
34,085
$ 1,005,085
$ 2,014,098

Additions and deletions to compensated absences are shown net since it is impractical to
determine these amounts separately.
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5.

Debt Maturity Schedule
The following is a statement of bonds with corresponding maturity schedules:

Description
Governmental Activities:
General Fund Serial Bonds
Serial Bonds
Serial Bonds
Serial Bonds
Serial Bonds
Business-Type Activities:
Water Fund Serial Bonds
Serial Bonds
Serial Bonds
Serial Bonds
Sewer Fund NYS EFC Bonds
Serial Bonds
Serial Bonds
Serial Bonds
Serial Bonds
Total

6.

Year
2022
2023
2024
2025
2026
2027-31
2032-36
2037-41
2042-46
Total

Original
Amount

Issue
Date

Final
Maturity

Interest
Rate

$
$
$
$
$

1,613,000
1,988,950
7,320,000
1,430,000
260,000

2015
2015
2018
2019
2020

2025
2027
2033
2034
2026

2.00%-2.25%
3.01%
3.00%-3.50%
1.75%-2.00%
2.00%-4.00%

$
$
$
$

666,500
2,371,800
715,000
1,325,000

2015
2015
2019
2020

2025
2046
2034
2031

2.00%-2.25%
3.01%
1.75%-2.00%
1.00%-4.00%

$
$
$
$
$

1,105,000
620,500
554,250
715,000
3,755,000

2013
2015
2015
2019
2020

2023
2025
2027
2034
2031

0.721%-4.500%
2.00%-2.25%
3.01%
1.75%-2.00%
1.00%-4.00%

Amount
Outstanding
12/31/21

$

685,000
544,000
5,995,000
1,255,000
95,000

290,000
1,894,000
625,000
1,155,000
120,000
265,000
222,000
635,000
3,450,000
$ 17,230,000

The following table summarizes the City’s future debt service requirements as of December 31,
2021:

$

$

Governmental Activities
Principal
Interest
844,000
$
245,436
870,000
223,506
885,000
199,406
895,000
176,406
746,000
151,169
3,039,000
457,972
1,295,000
63,438
8,574,000
$
1,517,333
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Business-Type Activities
Principal
Interest
$
971,000
$
222,733
845,000
196,312
845,000
181,463
845,000
168,987
694,000
154,375
3,046,000
468,540
690,000
191,363
370,000
112,594
350,000
42,000
$
8,656,000
$
1,738,367
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7.

In prior years, the City defeased certain general obligations and other bonds by placing the
proceeds of new bonds in an irrevocable trust to provide for all future debt service payments on
the old bonds. Accordingly, the trust account assets and the liability for the defeased bonds are
not included in the City’s financial statements. $7,625,000 of bonds outstanding are considered
defeased.

8.

Deferred Outflow and Inflow of Resources
The City has the following deferred outflow and Inflow of resources:

Pension
Bonds
OPEB
Total

H.

Governmental Activities
Deferred
Deferred
Outflows
Inflows
$ 7,260,636
$ 7,376,605
2,064,898
313,978
$ 9,325,534
$ 7,690,583

Business-Type Activities
Deferred
Deferred
Outflows
Inflows
$ 1,054,731
$ 1,266,683
230,455
276,620
179,927
$ 1,331,351
$ 1,677,065

Fund Balances/Net Position
1.

Fund Balances
a.

Nonspendable
The City has the following nonspendable funds:
Nonspendable Prepaid Items - The City has prepaid various items and the cash is
no longer available therefore those funds are nonspendable.

b.

Restricted

Currently, New York State laws still use the terminology reserves. The City currently
utilizes the following reserves which are classified as restricted funds:
1.

Governmental Funds
a.
Insurance Reserve – Established to provide for deductibles and
uninsured claims. The balance at December 31, 2021 is $60,692.
b.
Capital Reserve – Established to be used for the construction,
reconstruction or acquisition of general types of the capital improvements or
the acquisition of general types of items or types of equipment. The balance at
December 31, 2021 is $887,303.
c.
General Reserve – Represents amounts held in reserve by
contributors for a specific purpose. The balance at December 31, 2021 is
$26,305.
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d.
Debt Service Fund – Reserve for Debt - In accordance with General
Municipal Law, Section 6-1, the City has established a reserve to provide
funding for the outstanding balance due on serial bonds and bond anticipation
notes which were issued for various building and reconstruction projects. This
reserve is recorded in the Debt Service Fund and may be reduced each year
until the serial bonds and bond anticipation notes are paid in full. The balance
at December 31, 2021 is $73,831.
e.
Special Districts - City special districts fund balance is considered
restricted as the revenues are raised by a specific taxing jurisdiction and can
only be expended for that purpose. The City has the community development
fund, the technology fund, the parks & open spaces fund, and the watershed
program fund as special districts.
2.

Enterprise Funds
a.
Reserve for Water Distribution System - Established for
maintenance and future construction of the water distribution system.
b.
Reserve for Water Treatment Plant – Established for maintenance
and future improvements to the water treatment plant that provides drinking
water to the City of Canandaigua and the surrounding water districts.
c.
Reserve for Waste Water Treatment Plant – Established for the
operation and maintenance of the sewage treatment plant that serves the City
of Canandaigua and Ontario County/Canandaigua Lake Sewer District.
d.
Reserve for Sewer Collection – Established for the operation and
maintenance of all sanitary sewer lines.
e.
Reserve for Debt - In accordance with General Municipal Law,
Section 6-1, the City has established a reserve to provide funding for the
outstanding balance due on serial bonds and bond anticipation notes which
were issued for various building and reconstruction projects.

c.

Assigned
The City has the following assigned funds:
General Fund –

1.
2.
3.
1.

Technology Fund –

Appropriated for Taxes
Encumbrances
Kershaw Park Reserve
Year End Equity

Encumbrances represent purchase commitments made by the City’s purchasing agent
through their authorization of a purchase order prior to year end. The City assignment is based
on the functional level of expenditures.
Management has determined that amounts in excess of $25,000 are considered
significant, the City does not have any significant encumbrances.
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d.

Unassigned

Unassigned funds include the residual classification for the City’s general fund and all
spendable amounts not contained in other classifications.
The following table summarizes the City’s fund balance according to the descriptions
above:
Debt
Service
Fund

General
Fund

FUND BALANCE:
Nonspendable Inventory
Prepaid items
Total Nonspendable
Restricted Capital reserves
Insurance reserve
Debt reserve
General reserve
Special districts Community development fund
Cemetery fund
Parks & open spaces fund
Energy Projects fund
Canandaigua Lake watershed council
Total Restricted
Assigned Appropriated for taxes
Kershaw park reserve
General government support
Public safety
Transportation
Culture and recreation
Technology fund
Total Assigned
Unassigned
TOTAL FUND BALANCE

$
$
$

$
$

$
$
$

14,823
404,132
418,955
887,303
60,692
26,305
974,300
684,586
67,298
18,610
20,256
2,008
4,679
797,437
5,436,806
7,627,498

$
$
$

$
$

$
$
$

Special
District
Funds
-

$

73,831
-

$

73,831
73,831

$

$
$

$
$
$

Total

4,141
4,141

$

-

$

136,005
29,042
88,622
16,350
247,440
517,459
170,353
170,353
691,953

$

$
$

$
$
$

14,823
408,273
423,096
887,303
60,692
73,831
26,305
136,005
29,042
88,622
16,350
247,440
1,565,590
684,586
67,298
18,610
20,256
2,008
4,679
170,353
967,790
5,436,806
8,393,282

When an expenditure is incurred for purposes for which both restricted and unrestricted fund
balances is available, the City considers restricted funds to have been spent first. When an expenditure
is incurred for which assigned or unassigned fund balances are available, the City considers amounts to
have been spent first out of assigned funds and then unassigned funds, as needed, unless the City has
provided otherwise in its commitment actions.
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2.

Net Position - Restricted for Other Purposes

Represents those amounts which have been restricted by enabling legislation or Board
Resolutions.
Debt
$
73,831
Watershed
247,440
Parks & Open Spaces
88,622
Energy Projects Fund
16,350
Cemetery
29,042
Community Development
136,005
Capital Reserves
887,303
Insurance Reserve
60,692
Other
26,305
Total Net Position - Restricted
for Other Purposes
$
1,565,590

IV.

General Information and Pension Plans:
A.

General Information About Pension Plan
1.

Plan Description

The City participates in the New York State Local Employees' Retirement System (ERS) and
the New York State Local Police and Fire Retirement System (PFRS) which are collectively referred to
as New York State and Local Retirement Systems (the System). These are cost sharing multiple
employer defined benefit retirement systems. The net position of the System is held in the New York
State Common Retirement Fund (the Fund), which was established to hold all net assets and record
changes in fiduciary net position allocated to the System. The Comptroller of the State of New York
serves as the trustee of the Fund and is the administrative head of the System. The Comptroller is an
elected official determined in a direct statewide election and serves a four year term. System benefits
are established under the provisions of the New York State Retirement and Social Security Law
(RSSL). Once a public employer elects to participate in the System , the election is irrevocable. The
New York State Constitution provides that pension membership is a contractual relationship and plan
benefits cannot be diminished or impaired. Benefits can be changed for future members only by
enactment of a State statute. The City also participates in the Public Employees’ Group Life Insurance
Plan (GLIP), which provides death benefits in the form of life insurance. The System is included in the
State’s financial report as a pension trust fund. That report may be found at
www.osc.state.ny.us/retire/publications/index.php or obtained by writing to the New York State and
Local Retirement System, 110 State Street, Albany, New York 12244.
2.

Benefits Provided
The Systems provide retirement benefits as well as death and disability benefits.
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Tier 1 and 2
Eligibility: Tier 1 members, with the exception of those retiring under special retirement plans,
must be at least age 55 to be eligible to collect a retirement benefit. There is no minimum service
requirement for Tier 1 members. Tier 2 members, with the exception of those retiring under special
retirement plans, must have five years of service and be at least age 55 to be eligible to collect a
retirement benefit. The age at which full benefits may be collected for Tier 1 is 55, and the full benefit
age for Tier 2 is 62.
Benefit Calculation: Generally, the benefit is 1.67 percent of final average salary for each year
of service if the member retires with less than 20 years. If the member retires with 20 or more years of
service, the benefit is 2 percent of final average salary for each year of service. Tier 2 members with
five or more years of service can retire as early as age 55 with reduced benefits. Tier 2 members age 55
or older with 30 or more years of service can retire with no reduction in benefits. As a result of Article
19 of the RSSL, Tier 1 and Tier 2 members who worked continuously from April 1, 1999 through
October 1, 2000 received an additional month of service credit for each year of credited service they
have at retirement, up to a maximum of 24 additional months.
Final average salary is the average of the wages earned in the three highest consecutive years.
For Tier 1 members who joined on or after June 17, 1971, each year of final average salary is limited to
no more than 20 percent of the previous year. For Tier 2 members, each year of final average salary is
limited to no more than 20 percent of the average of the previous two years.
Tier 3, 4, 5
Eligibility: Tier 3 and 4 members, with the exception of those retiring under special retirement
plans, must have five years of service and be at least age 55 to be eligible to collect a retirement benefit.
Tier 5 members, with the exception of those retiring under special retirement plans, must have ten years
of service and be at least age 55 to be eligible to collect a retirement benefit. The full benefit age for
Tiers 3, 4, and 5 is 62.
Benefit Calculation: Generally, the benefit is 1.67 percent of final average salary for each year
of service if the member retires with less than 20 years. If a member retires with between 20 and 30
years of service, the benefit is 2 percent of final average salary for each year of service. If a member
retires with more than 30 years of service, an additional benefit of 1.5 percent of final average salary is
applied for each year of service over 30 years. Tier 3 and 4 members with five or more years of service
and Tier 5 members with ten or more years of service can retire as early as age 55 with reduced
benefits. Tier 3 and 4 members age 55 or older with 30 or more years of service can retire with no
reduction in benefits.
Final average salary is the average of wages earned in the three highest consecutive years. For
Tier 3, 4, and 5 members, each year of final average salary is limited to no more than 10 percent of the
average of the previous two years.
Tier 6
Eligibility: Tier 6 members, with the exception of those retiring under special retirement plans,
must have ten years of service and be at least age 55 to be eligible to collect a retirement benefit. The
full benefit age of Tier 6 is 63 and ERS members and 62 for PFRS members.
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Benefit Calculation: Generally, the benefit is 1.67 percent of final average salary for each year
of service if the member retires with less than 20 years. If a member retires with 20 years of service, the
benefit is 1.75 percent of final average salary for each year of service. If a member retires with more
than 20 years of service, an additional benefit of 2 percent of final average salary is applied for each
year of service over 20 years. Tier 6 members with ten or more years of service can retire as early as 55
with reduced benefits.
Final average salary is the average of the wages earned in the five highest consecutive years.
For Tier 6 members, each year of final average salary is limited to no more than 10 percent of the
average of the previous four years.
Special Plans
The 25-Year Plans allow a retirement after 25 years of service with a benefit of one-half of
final average salary, and the 20-Year Plans allow a retirement after 20 years of service with a benefit of
one-half of final average salary. These plans are available to certain PFRS members, sheriffs, and
correction officers.
Ordinary Disability Benefits
Generally, ordinary disability benefits, usually one-third of salary, are provided to eligible
members after ten years of service; in some cases, they are provided after five years of service.
Accidental Disability Benefits
For all eligible Tier 1 and Tier 2 ERS and PFRS members, the accidental disability benefit is a
pension of 75 percent of final average salary, with an offset for any Workers’ Compensation benefits
received. The benefit for eligible Tier 3, 4, 5, and 6 members is the ordinary disability benefit with the
years-of-service eligibility requirement dropped.
Ordinary Death Benefits
Death benefits are payable upon the death, before retirement, of a member who meets
eligibility requirements as set forth by law. The first $50,000 of an ordinary death benefit is paid in the
form of group term life insurance. The benefit is generally three times the member’s annual salary. For
most members, there is also a reduced post-retirement ordinary death benefit available.
Post-Retirement Benefit Increases
A cost-of-living adjustment is provided annually to: (i) all pensioners who have attained age 62
and have been retired for five years; (ii) all pensioners who have attained age 55 and have been retired
for ten years; (iii) all disability pensioners, regardless of age, who have been retired for five years; (iv)
ERS recipients of an accidental death benefit, regardless of age, who have been receiving such benefit
for five years and (v) the spouse of a deceased retiree receiving a lifetime benefit under an option
elected by the retiree at retirement. An eligible spouse is entitled to one-half the cost-of-living
adjustment amount that would have been paid to the retiree when the retiree would have met the
eligibility criteria. This cost-of-living adjustment is a percentage of the annual retirement benefit of the
eligible member as computed on a base benefit amount not to exceed $18,000 of the annual retirement
benefit. The cost-of-living percentage shall be 50 percent of the annual Consumer Price Index as
published by the U.S. Bureau of Labor, but cannot be less than 1 percent or exceed 3 percent.
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3.

Contributions

The System is noncontributory except for employees who joined the New York State and Local
Employees’ Retirement System after July 27, 1976, who contribute 3 percent of their salary for the first
ten years of membership, and employees who joined on or after January 1, 2010 (ERS) or January 9,
2010 (PFRS) who generally contribute 3 percent of their salary for their entire length of service. For
Tier 6 members, the contribution rate varies from 3 percent to 6 percent depending on salary. Generally,
Tier 5 and 6 members are required to contribute for all years of service. Under the authority of the
NYSRSSL, the Comptroller annually certifies the actuarially determined rates expressly, used in
computing the employers’ contributions based on salaries paid during the Systems’ financial year
ending March 31. Contributions for the current year and two preceding years were equal to 100 percent
of the contributions required, and were as follows:
Prepayment
Due Date
12/15/2021
12/15/2020
12/15/2019

$
$
$

ERS
571,184
548,611
551,083

PFRS
817,826
728,087
668,173

$
$
$

The City’s contributions made to the System were equal to 100 percent of the contributions
required for each year.
B.

Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows
of Resources related to Pensions

At December 31, 2021, the City reported a liability of $1,618,674 for its proportionate share of the net
pension liability. The net pension liability was measured as of March 31, 2021, and the total pension liability
used to calculate the net pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of that date. The City’s
proportion of the net pension liability was based on a projection of the City’s long-term share of contributions to
the pension plan relative to the projected contributions of all participating members, actuarially determined.
At December 31, 2021, the City’s proportion was 0.00128355 percent for ERS and 0.0924855 percent
for PFRS.
For the year ended December 31, 2021 the City recognized pension expense of $1,228,278. At
December 31, 2021, the City reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to
pensions from the following sources:
Deferred Outflows
of Resources
ERS
PFRS
Differences between expected and
actual experience
Changes of assumptions
Net difference between projected and
actual earnings on pension plan
investments
Changes in proportion and differences
between the District's contributions and
proportionate share of contributions
Subtotal
City's contributions subsequent to the
measurement date
Grand Total

$

156,088
2,349,980

$

Deferred Inflows
of Resources
ERS
PFRS

356,319
3,945,284

$

44,321

$

-

-

-

3,671,404

4,721,769

176,847
$ 2,682,915

289,092
$ 4,590,695

20,802
$ 3,736,527

184,992
$ 4,906,761

428,387
$ 3,111,302

613,370
$ 5,204,065

$ 3,736,527

$ 4,906,761
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Differences between expected and
actual experience
Changes of assumptions
Net difference between projected and
actual earnings on pension plan
investments
Changes in proportion and differences
between the City's contributions and
proportionate share of contributions
SubTotal
City's contributions subsequent to the
measurement date
Grand Total

Differences between expected and
actual experience
Changes of assumptions
Net difference between projected and
actual earnings on pension plan
investments
Changes in proportion and differences
between the Town's contributions and
proportionate share of contributions
Grand Total

Governmental
PFRS
ERS
$ 356,319
$ 103,174
3,945,284
1,553,337

-

-

289,092
$ 4,590,695

116,896
$ 1,773,407

613,370
$ 5,204,065

283,164
$ 2,056,571

Governmental
PFRS
ERS
$
$
29,296

4,721,769

2,426,798

184,992
$ 4,906,761

13,750
$ 2,469,844

Deferred Outflows of Resources
Total
Proprietary
Governmental
Water
Sewer
$
459,493
$ 30,281
$ 22,633
5,498,621
455,896
340,747

Total
Proprietary
$
52,914
796,643

Grand
Total
$ 512,407
6,295,264

-

-

-

-

-

$

405,988
6,364,102

34,308
$ 520,485

25,643
$ 389,023

$

59,951
909,508

465,939
$ 7,273,610

$

896,534
7,260,636

83,107
$ 603,592

62,116
$ 451,139

145,223
$ 1,054,731

1,041,757
$ 8,315,367

Deferred Inflows of Resources
Total
Proprietary
Governmental
Water
Sewer
$
$
$
29,296
8,598
6,427

Total
Proprietary
$
15,025

Grand
Total

$
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$

44,321

7,148,567

712,252

532,354

1,244,606

8,393,173

198,742
7,376,605

4,036
$ 724,886

3,016
$ 541,797

7,052
$ 1,266,683

205,794
$ 8,643,288

( IV. ) (Continued)
The City reported $1,041,757 as deferred outflows of resources related to pensions resulting from City
contributions subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as a reduction of the net pension liability in
the year ended December 31, 2021. Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred
inflows of resources related to pensions will be recognized in pension expenses as follows:

Year
2022
2023
2024
2025
2026
Total
1.

ERS
$
(163,380)
(36,124)
(168,632)
(685,476)
$ (1,053,612)

PFRS
$ (188,285)
1,701
(133,032)
(808,824)
812,374
$ (316,066)

Actuarial Assumptions

The total pension liability as of the measurement date was determined by using an actuarial
valuation as noted in the table below, with update procedures used to roll forward the total pension
liability to the measurement date. The actuarial valuations used the following actuarial assumptions:
ERS
March 31, 2021

PFRS
March 31, 2021

April 1, 2021

April 1, 2020

Interest rate

5.90%

5.90%

Salary scale

4.40%

6.20%

April 1 2010 31-Mar-15
System's Experience

April 1 2010 31-Mar-15
System's Experience

Inflation rate

2.70%

2.70%

COLA's

1.40%

1.40%

Measurement date
Actuarial valuation date

Decrement tables

Annuitant mortality rates are based on Society of Actuaries Scale MP-2014 System’s
experience with adjustments for mortality improvements based on MP-2019.
The long term rate of return on pension plan investments was determined using a building
block method in which best estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected returns net
of investment expense and inflation) are developed for each major asset class. These ranges are
combined to produce the long term expected rate of return by weighting the expected future real rates of
return by each the target asset allocation percentage and by adding expected inflation. Best estimates of
the arithmetic real rates of return for each major asset class included in the target asset allocation are
summarized as follows:
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Asset Type
Domestic equity
International equity
Private equity
Real estate
Absolute return strategies *
Opportunistic portfolios
Real assets
Cash
Inflation-indexed bonds
Credit

Long-Term
Expected Real
Rate of Return
4.05%
6.30%
6.75%
4.95%
4.50%
4.50%
5.95%
0.50%
0.50%
3.63%

The real rate of return is net of the long-term inflation assumption of 2% for ERS and 2% for PFRS.
*

Excludes equity-oriented long-only funds. For investment management purposes, these funds are
included in domestic equity and internal equity.
2.

Discount Rate

The discount rate used to calculate the total pension liability was 5.90%. The projection of
cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumes that contributions from plan members will be
made at the current contribution rates and that contributions from employers will be made at statutorily
required rates, actuarially. Based upon the assumptions, the Systems’ fiduciary net position was
projected to be available to make all projected future benefit payments of current plan members.
Therefore, the long term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was applied to all periods
of projected benefit payments to determine the total pension liability.
3.

Sensitivity of the Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability to the Discount Rate
Assumption

The following presents the City’s proportionate share of the net pension liability calculated
using the discount rate of 5.90%, as well as what the City’s proportionate share of the net pension
asset/(liability) would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1-percentagepoint lower
(4.90%) or 1-percentagepoint higher (6.90%) than the current rate:

ERS
Employer's proportionate
share of the net pension
asset (liability)

PFRS
Employer's proportionate
share of the net pension
asset (liability)

Current
Assumption
(5.90%)

1% Decrease
(4.90%)

$

(3,547,461)

$

(6,828,778)
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$

Current
Assumption
(5.90%)

1% Decrease
(4.90%)

$

(12,781)

1% Increase
(6.90%)

$

(1,605,803)

3,247,021
1% Increase
(6.90%)

$

2,717,471

( IV. ) (Continued)
4.

Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Position

The components of the current year net pension asset/(liability) of the employers as of the
respective valuation dates, were as follows:

Employers' total pension liability
Plan net position
Employers' net pension asset/(liability)
Ratio of plan net position to the
employers' total pension asset/(liability)

V.

$
$

(In Thousands)
ERS
PFRS
22,680,157
$
41,236,775
220,580,583
39,500,500
197,900,426
$
(1,736,275)
99.95%

95.79%

Postemployment Benefits
A.

General Information About the OPEB Plan

Plan Description – The City’s defined benefit OPEB plan, provides OPEB for all permanent full-time
general and public safety employees of the City. The plan is a single-employer defined benefit OPEB plan
administered by the City. Article 11 of the State Compiled Statutes grants the authority to establish and amend
the benefit terms and financing requirements to the City Board. No assets are accumulated in a trust that meets
the criteria in paragraph 4 of Statement 75.
Benefits Provided – The City provides healthcare and life insurance benefits for retirees and their
dependents. The benefit terms are dependent on which contract each employee falls under. The specifics of each
contract are on file at the City offices and are available upon request.
Employees Covered by Benefit Terms – At December 31, 2021, the following employees were covered
by the benefit terms:
Inactive employees or beneficiaries currently receiving benefit payments
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Active Employees

94

Total

B.

145

Total OPEB Liability

The City’s total OPEB liability of $12,825,460 was measured as of December 31, 2021 and was
determined by an actuarial valuation as of that date.
Actuarial Assumptions and Other Inputs – The total OPEB liability in the December 31, 2021 actuarial
valuation was determined using the following actuarial assumptions and other inputs, applied to all periods
included in the measurement, unless otherwise specified:
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Inflation

2.37 percent

Salary Increases

3.44 percent, average, including inflation

Discount Rate

2.19 percent

Healthcare Cost Trend Rates

6.10 percent for 2021, decreasing to an ultimate rate of
4.37 percent for 2075 and later years

Retirees' Share of Benefit-Related Costs

Various percent of projected health insurance premiums for retirees

The discount rate was based on Fidelity General Obligation AA-20 Year Municipal Bond rate.
Mortality rates were based on the RP-2014 Mortality Table, as appropriate, with adjustments for
mortality improvements based on Scale MP-2021.
C.

Changes in the Total OPEB Liability
Balance at December 31, 2020
Changes for the Year Service cost
Interest
Differences between expected and actual experience
Changes in assumptions or other inputs
Benefit payments
Net Changes
Balance at December 31, 2021

$

11,529,630

$

353,776
270,198
790,131
553,615
(671,890)
1,295,830
12,825,460

$
$

Changes of assumptions and other inputs reflect a change in the discount rate from 2.41 percent in 2020
to 2.19 percent in 2021.
Sensitivity of the Total OPEB Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate – The following presents the
total OPEB liability of the City, as well as what the City’s total OPEB liability would be if it were calculated
using a discount rate that is 1-percentage-point lower (1.19 percent) or 1-percentage-point higher (3.19 percent)
than the current discount rate:

Total OPEB Liability

1% Decrease
(1.19%)
$ 13,896,162
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Discount
Rate
(2.19%)
$ 12,825,460

1% Increase
(3.19%)
$ 11,851,401

( V. ) (Continued)
Sensitivity of the Total OPEB Liability to Changes in the Healthcare Cost Trend Rates – The following
presents the total OPEB liability of the City, as well as what the City’s total OPEB liability would be if it were
calculated using healthcare cost trend rates that are 1-percentage-point lower (5.10 percent) or 1-percentagepoint higher (7.10 percent) than the current healthcare cost trend rate:

Total OPEB Liability

D.

Healthcare
Cost Trend Rates
(6.10%
Decreasing
to 4.37%)
$
12,825,460

1% Decrease
(5.10%
Decreasing
to 3.37%)
$ 11,476,012

1% Increase
(7.10%
Increasing
to 5.37%)
$ 14,401,702

OPEB Expense and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related
to OPEB

For the year ended December 31, 2021, the City recognized OPEB expense of $1,105,769. At
December 31, 2021, the City reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to
OPEB from the following sources:
Deferred Outflows
Deferred Inflows
of Resources
of Resources
Differences between expected and
actual experience
$
1,098,748
$
453,400
Changes of assumptions
1,072,952
40,505
City's contributions subsequent to the
measurement date
169,818
Total
$
2,341,518
$
493,905
Amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB
will be recognized in OPEB expense as follows:
Year
2022
2023
2024
2025
2026
Thereafter
Total

VI.

$

$

503,587
515,294
398,111
217,823
27,695
15,285
1,677,795

Deferred Compensation Plan:

The City maintains a deferred compensation plan in accordance with Section 457 of the Internal Revenue Code
for which City employees have the option to participate.
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VII.

Risk Management
A.

General Information

The City is exposed to various risks of loss related to injuries to employees, theft, damages, natural
disasters, etc. These risks are covered by commercial insurance purchased from independent third parties.
Settled claims from these risks have not exceeded commercial insurance coverage for the past three years.
B.

Insurance Reserve

The City is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft or damage to, or destruction of assets;
and natural disasters. Under the City’s self insurance plan, self-insurance coverage is provided for deductibles
and for uninsured claims. The City purchases commercial insurance for claims in excess of the self-insurance
coverage and for all other risks of loss. Settled claims have not exceeded this commercial coverage in any of the
past four years.
There were no estimated accrued claims for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 as defined by
GASB Statement #10, which requires that a liability for claims be reported if information prior to the issuance of
financial statements indicates that it is probable that a liability has been incurred at the date of the financial
statements and the amount of loss can be reasonably estimated. However, as referred to in Note III (2b.), the
City has established and maintains an insurance reserve having a balance of $60,692 at December 31, 2021.
C.

Workers’ Compensation

The City of Canandaigua, Ontario County, New York is a member of the Ontario County Workers’
Compensation Self-Insurance Plan (the Plan). Current membership of the Plan includes various municipal
entities. The Plan is administered by Ontario County and utilizes a third party administrator who is responsible
for processing claims, estimating liabilities and providing actuarial services.
The Plan states that participants are charged an annual assessment on the basis of their five year
experience (60%), exposure (20%), and assessed value (20%). The County does not have excess insurance
coverage above the funding provided by this self-insurance program.
The Plan establishes a liability for both reported and unreported insured events, which includes
estimates of both future payments of losses and related claim adjustment expenses. However, because actual
claims costs depend on complex factors, the process used in computing claims liabilities does not necessarily
result in an exact amount. Such claims are based on the ultimate cost of claims (including future claim
adjustment expenses) that have been reported but not settled, and claims that have been incurred but not
reported. Adjustments to claims liabilities are charged or credited to expense in the period in which they are
made. During the year ended December 31, 2021, the City of Canandaigua, Ontario County, New York incurred
premiums or contribution expenditures totaling $296,018 which were collected through the County’s tax levy.
VIII.

Commitments and Contingencies
A.

Litigation

The City has several claims and notice of claims filed against it as of the date of this report which
management believes will be covered under the City’s insurance policy or will not be material to the financial
statements. In addition, there are pending tax certiorari claims requesting reduction of assessments in which the
financial impact, if any, cannot be determined at this time.
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B.

Grants

The City participates in a number of Federal and New York State grant and assistance programs. These
programs are subject to financial and compliance audits by the grantors or their representatives. The amount, if
any, of expenditures which may be disallowed by the granting agencies cannot be determined at this time,
although the City expects such amounts, if any, to be immaterial.

IX.

Lease Agreements
A.

System Site Lease Agreement

On May 8, 2015 the City entered into a system site lease agreement to lease approximately ten (10)
acres of land for solar panel use. The City will receive a one-time payment of $1 for the lease of this property
over the twenty-five year term of this agreement. The commercial operation date of the solar panels was January
1, 2019.
B.

Power Purchase Agreement

On May 8, 2015 the City (purchaser) entered into a power purchase agreement with a third party (seller)
to purchase energy generated by the solar system located on the ten (10) acres in the system site lease agreement
noted above. The City pays an annual fixed rate that increases each year from .092/kwh in year 1 to .14798/kwh
in year 25. Any energy generated that exceeds the City’s needs will be sold to a utility in accordance with the net
metering rules or enter into other arrangements to deliver or exchange excess energy to another buyer. Any
excess energy sold to a utility will offset cost to the City and then be maintained as a credit to offset future utility
cost of the City. The commercial operation date of the solar panels was January 1, 2019. As of December 31,
2021 the City had a solar credit balance totaling $24,370.

X.

Rental of Real Property
The City has entered into agreements to lease City property for the following:
A.

Cellular Towers

The total rental income received for the year ended December 31, 2021 totaled $106,391 which is
reported in the Technology Fund.
B.

Muar House

The total rental income received for the year ended December 31, 2021 totaled $13,200 which is
reported in the General Fund.
C.

West Lake Road

The total rental income received for the year ended December 31, 2021 totaled $9,600 which is reported
in the Water Fund.
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D.

Solar Farm

The total rental income received for the year ended December 31, 2021 totaled $32,147 which is
reported in the General Fund.

XI.

Covid-19

On January 30,2020, the World Health Organization (“WHO”) announced a global health emergency
because of a new strain of coronavirus originating in Wuhan, China (the “COVID-19 outbreak”) and the risks to the
international community as the virus spreads globally beyond its point of origin. In March 2020, the WHO
classified the COVID-19 outbreak as a pandemic, based on the rapid increase in exposure globally.
The full impact of the COVID-19 outbreak continues to evolve as of the date of this report. As such, it is
uncertain as to the full magnitude that the pandemic will have on the City’s financial condition, liquidity, budgetary
projections and future results of operation. Management is actively monitoring the global situation on its financial
condition, liquidity, budgetary projections, and workforce. Given the daily evolution of the COVID-19 outbreak
and the global responses to curb its spread, the City is not able to estimate the effects of the COVID-19 outbreak on
its budgetary projections, results of operations, financial condition, or liquidity for fiscal year 2022.
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Required Supplemental Information
CITY OF CANANDAIGUA, ONTARIO COUNTY, NEW YORK
Schedule of Changes in City's Total OPEB Liability and Related Ratio
(Unaudited)
For the Year Ended December 31, 2021

TOTAL OPEB LIABILITY

2021

Service cost

$

Interest

2020

353,776

$

2019

297,524

$

278,425

270,198

281,137

-

-

(25,931)

Differences between expected and actual experiences

790,131

706,821

(962,561)

Changes of assumptions or other inputs

553,615

318,502

(671,890)

(519,002)

Changes in benefit terms

Benefit payments

2018

$

377,853

296,837
351,215
(14,335)

1,189,673

(269,936)

(514,487)

(496,416)

Net Change in Total OPEB Liability

$

1,295,830

$

1,084,982

$

342,972

$

(132,635)

Total OPEB Liability - Beginning

$

11,529,630

$

10,444,648

$

10,101,676

$

10,234,311

Total OPEB Liability - Ending

$

12,825,460

$

11,529,630

$

10,444,648

$

10,101,676

Covered Employee Payroll

$

6,242,104

$

6,034,517

$

5,845,368

$

5,845,368

Total OPEB Liability as a Percentage of Covered
Employee Payroll

205.47%

10 years of historical information is not available and will be reported each year going forward

(See Independent Auditors' Report)
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191.06%

178.68%

172.82%

Required Supplemental Information
CITY OF CANANDAIGUA, ONTARIO COUNTY, NEW YORK
Schedule of the City's Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability
(Unaudited)
For the Year Ended December 31, 2021

NYSERS Pension Plan
2021
Proportion of the net pension
liability (assets)

0.0128355%

2020

2019

0.0120531%

0.0125312%

Proportionate share of the
net pension liability (assets)

$

12,871

$ 3,191,729

$

Covered-employee payroll

$ 3,725,433

$ 3,913,713

$ 3,857,951

887,871

2018
0.0126691%
$

2017
0.0125921%

2016
0.0120560%

2015
0.0122275%

408,888

$ 1,183,184

$ 1,935,021

$

413,076

$ 3,773,084

$ 3,760,142

$ 3,577,704

$ 3,650,025

Proportionate share of the net
pension liability (assets) as
a percentage of its
covered-employee payroll

0.345%

81.552%

23.014%

10.837%

31.466%

54.086%

11.317%

Plan fiduciary net position as
a percentage of the total
pension liability

99.95%

86.39%

96.27%

98.24%

94.70%

90.70%

97.90%

NYSPFRS Pension Plan
2021
Proportion of the net pension
liability (assets)

0.0924855%

2020
0.0782952%

2019
0.0757769%

2018
0.0741655%

2017
0.0770643%

2016
0.0915745%

2015
0.0740655%

Proportionate share of the
net pension liability (assets)

$ 1,605,803

$ 4,184,829

$ 1,270,827

$

749,633

$ 1,597,275

$ 2,711,325

$

Covered-employee payroll

$ 3,136,725

$ 3,211,666

$ 2,965,135

$ 2,756,805

$ 2,782,060

$ 2,690,048

$ 2,756,062

203,872

Proportionate share of the net
pension liability (assets) as
a percentage of its
covered-employee payroll

51.194%

130.301%

42.859%

27.192%

57.413%

100.791%

7.397%

Plan fiduciary net position as
a percentage of the total
pension liability

95.79%

84.86%

95.09%

96.93%

93.50%

90.20%

99.00%

10 years of historical information is not available and will be reported each year going forward

(See Independent Auditors' Report)
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Required Supplemental Information
CITY OF CANANDAIGUA, ONTARIO COUNTY, NEW YORK
Schedule of City Contributions
(Unaudited)
For the Year Ended December 31, 2021

NYSERS Pension Plan
2021
Contractually required
contributions

$

Contributions in relation to
the contractually required
contribution

2020

571,184

$

(571,184)

Contribution deficiency (excess)

$

Covered-employee payroll

$ 3,725,433

Contributions as a percentage
of covered-employee payroll

-

2019

552,587

$

(552,587)
$

-

$ 3,913,713

15.33%

2018

548,116

$

(548,116)
$

-

$ 3,857,951

14.12%

2017

556,844

$

(556,844)
$

-

$ 3,773,084

14.21%

2016

538,374

$

(538,374)
$

-

$ 3,760,142

14.76%

2015

607,902

$

(607,902)
$

-

$ 3,577,704

14.32%

693,834

(693,834)
$

-

$ 3,650,025

16.99%

19.01%

NYSPFRS Pension Plan
2021
Contractually required
contributions

$

Contributions in relation to
the contractually required
contribution

2020

817,826

(817,826)

Contribution deficiency (excess)

$

Covered-employee payroll

$ 3,136,725

Contributions as a percentage
of covered-employee payroll

$

-

26.07%

2019

668,173

$

(668,173)
$

-

$ 3,211,666

2018

620,349

(620,349)
$

-

$ 2,965,135

20.80%

20.92%

10 years of historical information is not available and will be reported each year going forward

(See Independent Auditors' Report)

$
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2017

640,643

$

(640,643)
$

-

$ 2,756,805
23.24%

2016

609,334

$

(609,334)
$

-

$ 2,782,060
21.90%

2015

617,316

$

(617,316)
$

-

$ 2,690,048
22.95%

619,951

(619,951)
$

-

$ 2,756,062
22.49%

Required Supplemental Information
CITY OF CANANDAIGUA, ONTARIO COUNTY, NEW YORK
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances Budget (Non GAAP Basis) and Actual - General and Major Special Revenue Fund Types
(Unaudited)
For the Year Ended December 31, 2021
GENERAL FUND
Original Budget
(Incl. Carryover
Encumbrances)
Revenues:
Real property and tax items
Non-property taxes
Departmental income
Intergovernmental charges
Use of money and property
Licenses and permits
Fines and forfeitures
Sale of property and
compensation for loss
Miscellaneous
Interfund revenues
State and county aid
Federal aid
Total Revenues
Expenditures:
Current:
General government support
Public safety
Transportation
Economic assistance and development
Culture and recreation
Home and community services
Employee benefits
Total Expenditures
Excess (deficiency) of revenue
over expenditures
Other Financing Sources and Uses:
Transfers - in
Transfers - out
Total Other Financing
Sources and Uses
Net change in fund balances

$

$

6,044,004
4,908,243
727,361
795,203
84,090
110,300
132,800

Actual
$

5,942,231
5,871,364
765,908
772,152
59,770
119,843
146,837

Encumbrances
$

250,000
6,181
388,528
1,287,361
2,475
14,733,047

278,578
9,009
388,528
1,287,361
2,475
$ 14,767,952

220,479
17,691
388,528
1,616,483
877
$ 15,922,163

$

$

1,998,565
4,503,536
1,073,042
206,766
970,210
1,050,719
3,900,618
$ 13,703,456

$

1,788,178
4,197,248
973,917
204,541
842,289
1,030,021
3,653,879
$ 12,690,073

$

$

1,978,718
4,492,303
1,094,520
195,766
953,325
1,043,719
3,900,118
13,658,469

$

1,074,578

$

1,064,496

$

$

290,000
(3,261,162)

$

290,000
(3,582,319)

$

$

(2,971,162)

$

(1,896,584)

$

$

Fund Balance - Beginning
Fund Balance - Ending

6,044,004
4,908,243
723,862
795,203
84,090
110,300
132,800

Budget
(Amended)

5,401,856

$

(101,773)
963,121
38,547
(23,051)
(24,320)
9,543
14,037
(58,099)
8,682
329,122
(1,598)
1,154,211

$

$

$

191,777
286,032
97,117
2,225
123,242
20,698
246,739
967,830

3,232,090

$

(45,553)

$

2,122,041

290,000
(3,193,032)

$

-

$

389,287

$ (3,292,319)

$ (2,903,032)

$

-

$

389,287

$ (2,227,823)

$

$

$

2,511,328

7,298,440
$

5,070,617

329,058
7,298,440

$

7,627,498

63

(45,553)
-

$

Notes to Required Supplemental Information:
A reconciliation is not necessary since encumbrances are presented in a separate column on this schedule.
(See Independent Auditors' Report)

-

$

18,610
20,256
2,008
4,679
45,553

7,298,440
$

-

Variance

(45,553)

$

2,511,328

CITY OF CANANDAIGUA, ONTARIO COUNTY, NEW YORK
Combining Balance Sheet
Nonmajor Governmental Funds
December 31, 2021

Debt

Watershed

Service

Program

Technology

Fund

Fund

Fund

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents

$

73,831

$

158,564

$

222,172

Receivables, net

-

7,500

294

Due from other governments, net

-

27,200

-

State and federal aid receivable

-

74,031

-

Prepaid items

-

4,141

-

Total Assets

$

73,831

$

271,436

$

222,466

$

-

$

18,299

$

28,298

Liabilities, Deferred Inflows, and Fund Balances
Liabilities:
Accounts payable and other
current liabilities
Accrued liabilities

-

1,556

-

Unearned revenue

-

-

23,815

Total Liabilities

$

-

$

19,855

$

52,113

$

-

$

-

$

-

$

-

$

4,141

$

-

Deferred Inflows:
Deferred Inflows of Resources
Fund Balances:
Nonspendable
Restricted
Assigned
Total Fund Balances

73,831

247,440

-

-

-

170,353

$

73,831

$

251,581

$

170,353

$

73,831

$

271,436

$

222,466

Total Liabilities, Deferred Inflows, and
Fund Balances

(See Independent Auditors' Report)
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Park &

$

Total

Open

Energy

Spaces

Projects

Fund

Fund

88,622

$

16,350

$

Community

Nonmajor

Cemetery

Development

Governmental

Fund

Fund

Funds

29,042

$

156,794

$

745,375

-

-

-

142,111

149,905

-

-

-

-

27,200

-

-

-

-

74,031

-

-

-

-

4,141

$

88,622

$

16,350

$

29,042

$

298,905

$

1,000,652

$

-

$

-

$

-

$

20,789

$

67,386

-

-

-

-

1,556

-

-

-

-

23,815

$

-

$

-

$

-

$

20,789

$

92,757

$

-

$

-

$

-

$

142,111

$

142,111

$

-

$

-

$

-

$

-

$

4,141

88,622

16,350

29,042

136,005

591,290

-

-

-

-

170,353

$

88,622

$

16,350

$

29,042

$

136,005

$

765,784

$

88,622

$

16,350

$

29,042

$

298,905

$

1,000,652
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CITY OF CANANDAIGUA, ONTARIO COUNTY, NEW YORK
Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances
Nonmajor Governmental Funds
For the Year Ended December 31, 2021

Debt
Service
Fund
Revenues:
Departmental income
Intergovernmental charges
Use of money and property
Miscellaneous
State and county aid
Total Revenues
Expenditures:
Current:
General government support
Economic assistance and development
Home and community services
Employee benefits
Debt Service:
Debt service - principal
Debt service - interest and other charges
Total Expenditures
Excess (deficiency) of revenue
over expenditures
Other Financing Sources and Uses:
Transfers - in
Total Other Financing
Sources and Uses
Net change in fund balances

$

$

$

(See Independent Auditors' Report)

13,583
13,583

$

1,265
-

$

7,283
163,459
363
11,919
157,578
340,602

$

221,929
35,311

$

$

106,768
106,768

185,654
-

$

$

185,654

$ (1,417,165)

$

83,362

$

(78,886)

$

1,197,545

$

-

$

-

$

1,197,545

$

-

$

-

$

83,362

$

$

$

1,153,600
275,883
1,430,748

$

Technology
Fund

257,240

Fund Balance - Beginning
Fund Balance - Ending

Watershed
Program
Fund

(219,620)
293,451

$

66

73,831

168,219
$

251,581

(78,886)
249,239

$

170,353

Park &
Open
Spaces
Fund
$

$

$

Energy
Projects
Fund

37,000
116
37,116

$

-

$

$

-

$

$

12
12

$

$

3,800
-

$

Cemetery
Fund

21,850
21,850

$

5,500
-

$

$

5,500

37,116

$

$

-

$
$

$

$

50,088
171
(500)
20,000
69,759

22,393
157,374
-

$

$

116,221
163,459
121,013
11,419
177,578
589,690

186,919
22,393
388,603
35,311

$

3,800

$

179,767

16,350

$

(3,788)

$

(110,008)

$

-

$

-

$

-

$

1,197,545

-

$

-

$

-

$

-

$

1,197,545

37,116

$

16,350

$

51,506
$

Community
Development
Fund

Total
Non-Major
Governmental
Funds

88,622

$

16,350

(3,788)

$

32,830
$

29,042

67

(110,008)

$

$ (1,473,019)

$

246,013
$

136,005

1,153,600
275,883
2,062,709

(275,474)
1,041,258

$

765,784

CITY OF CANANDAIGUA
Ontario County, New York

COMMUNICATING INTERNAL CONTROL
RELATED MATTERS IDENTIFIED IN AN
AUDIT
For Year Ended December 31, 2021

June 3, 2022
To the Honorable Mayor and Council Members
City of Canandaigua
Ontario County, New York
In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements of the City of Canandaigua, Ontario
County, New York as of and for the year ended December 31, 2021, in accordance with auditing standards
generally accepted in the United States of America, we considered the City of Canandaigua, Ontario County, New
York’s internal control over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinion on the financial statements, but not for
the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the City’s internal control. Accordingly, we do not
express an opinion on the effectiveness of the City’s internal control.
Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the preceding paragraph and
was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be significant deficiencies or material
weaknesses and therefore, there can be no assurance that all deficiencies, significant deficiencies, or material
weaknesses have been identified. We did not identify any deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be
material weaknesses. However, as discussed below, we identified certain matters involving the internal control and
other operational matters that are presented for your consideration. This letter does not affect our report dated June
3, 2022 on the financial statements of the City. We will review the status of these comments during our next audit
engagement. Our comments and recommendations, all of which have been discussed with appropriate members of
management, are intended to improve the internal control or result in other operating efficiencies. Our comments
are summarized as follows:
Prior Year Deficiencies Pending Corrective Action:
Cyber Risk Management –
The AICPA Center for Audit Quality recently issued a Cybersecurity risk management document
discussing the continued Cyber threats that face both private and public entities. With that in mind, the City
should continue to assess cybersecurity risk oversight procedures to ensure a cyber risk assessment is
completed over the financial system and any related subsidiary systems that the City uses to support their
financial and compliance reporting. In addition, the cyber risk assessment should be documented to provide
assurance that your cyber risk management procedures are in place for financial and compliance transactions of
the City.

1

(Prior Year Deficiencies Pending Corrective Action) (Continued)
Payroll Procedures –
During the course of our examination we noted that payroll registers are not reviewed by an independent
individual prior to distribution each week. Additionally, we noted that there is not currently a backup individual who
is cross trained on payroll processing.
We were informed that the City has a plan to address these items, however, implementation has been delayed
due to the COVID-19 pandemic.
Other Item:
The following item is not considered to be a deficiency in internal control; however, we consider it an other item
which we would like to communicate to you as follows:
Consolidating Services –
As the City continues to work with other municipalities to consolidate services, management should consider
legacy cost (benefits at retirement) on those contracts.
Prior Year Recommendation:
The prior year recommendations have been noted above.

*

*

*

We believe that the implementation of these recommendations will provide the City of Canandaigua with a
stronger system of internal control while also making its operations more efficient. We will be happy to discuss the
details of these recommendations with you at your convenience.
This communication is intended solely for the information and use of management, the Board, finance
committee, and others within the organization and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than
these specified parties.
We wish to express our appreciation to the finance department staff for the courtesies extended to us during the
course of our examination.

Rochester, New York
June 3, 2022

2

www.mrbgroup.com
Engineering, Architecture & Surveying, D.P.C.

May 31, 2022

John Goodwin, City Manager
City of Canandaigua
2 N. Main Street
Canandaigua, NY 14424
RE:

PROPOSAL FOR PROFESSIONAL SERVICES
CITY OF CANANDAIGUA
CONSOLIDATED FUNDING APPLICATION – ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION FUND PARKS GRANTS

Dear Mr. Goodwin:
We are pleased to provide this proposal for assistance in preparing an upcoming
Consolidated Funding Application (CFA) through the New York State Department
of State for the three (3) Environmental Protection Fund’s Parks grants on behalf
of the City of Canandaigua. These grant applications will request funding to
support each of these projects: demolition of construction of a building at Baker
Park, demolition and construction of a building at Sonnenberg Park, and
renovations at Jefferson Park. The CFA program awards these grants with a 50%
(demolition and construction projects) and 75% local match (renovation
projects).
I.

Background
It is our understanding that the City of Canandaigua has current condition
assessments of their parks and these three areas are the first priority to be
improved.
The Office of Parks, Recreation and Historic Preservation solicits applications
through the New York State Consolidated Funding Application (CFA) from
eligible villages, towns, and cities, and counties for the acquisition,
development, or planning of parks and recreational facilities to preserve,
rehabilitate or restore lands, waters or structures for park, recreation, or
conservation purposes and for structural assessments and/or planning for
these park projects.

The Culver Road Armory - 145 Culver Road, Suite 160, Rochester, NY 14620 - 585-381-9250

John Goodwin, City Manager
City of Canandaigua
RE: CONSOLIDATED FUNDING APPLICATION
May 31, 2022
Page 2

II.

Scope of Work
MRB Group will assist the City with the preparation of three (3) Parks
Program applications by preparing the various documents required to
submit through the CFA application process.
Specifically, we will develop three applications that outlines:













III.

Need and Community Impact
Public Engagement and Support
Local Capacity and Previous Performance / Strategies:
Local and State Significance
Public Value
Sustainability
Economic Value
Natural Resource Value
Implementation:
o Scope of Work
o Time Frame
o Project Readiness
o Leveraging Resources and Partnerships
o Performance Measures
Budget Forms
Regional Economic Development Council and Commissioner’s
Priorities
Finalize and submit three applications

Fee
MRB Group’s fee will be lump sum, with a total budget of $9,000.00
The cost figures shown above represent our lump sum amount. If any
additional work beyond this fee and outside the scope of this proposal is
expected, it would be reviewed with the Client. MRB Group shall submit
monthly statements for services rendered during each invoicing period

John Goodwin, City Manager
City of Canandaigua
RE: CONSOLIDATED FUNDING APPLICATION
May 31, 2022
Page 3

based on the efforts performed during that period. MRB Groups Standard
Rates are subject to annual adjustment.
IV.

Commencement of Work
Upon receipt of the signed proposal, MRB Group will begin work on the CFA
grant application process. In order to effectively address program
requirements, authorization to proceed must be received by June 3, 2022.
Applications are due July 29, 2022.

V.

Standard Terms and Conditions
Attached hereto and made part of this Agreement is MRB Group’s
Standard Terms and Conditions.

If this proposal is acceptable to you, please return one copy to our office. Thank
you for your consideration of our firm. We look forward to working with you on this
project.
With best regards,

Matt Horn
Director, Municipal Services

James J. Oberst, P.E.
Executive Vice-President / C.O.O.

\\mrbgroup.prv\Admindata\630006\Ltrs-Proposals\2022\mdh-Letter Proposal--C. of Canandaigua--CFA-PARKS.docx

PROPOSAL ACCEPTED FOR THE CITY OF CANANDAIGUA BY:

Signature

Title

Date

John Goodwin, City Manager
City of Canandaigua
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MRB GROUP, ENGINEERING, ARCHITECTURE, SURVEYING, D.P.C.
AGREEMENT FOR PROFESSIONAL SERVICES
STANDARD TERMS AND CONDITIONS
A. TERMINATION
This Agreement may be terminated by either party with seven days’ written notice in the event of
substantial failure to perform in accordance with the terms hereof by one party through no fault of the
other party. If this Agreement is so terminated, the Professional Services Organization (hereinafter referred
to as P.S.O.) shall be paid for services performed on the basis of his reasonable estimate for the portion of
work completed prior to termination. In the event of any termination, the P.S.O. shall be paid all terminal
expenses resulting therefrom, plus payment for additional services then due. Any primary payment made
shall be credited toward any terminal payment due the P.S.O. If, prior to termination of this Agreement,
any work designed or specified by the P.S.O. during any phase of the work is abandoned, after written
notice from the client, the P.S.O. shall be paid for services performed on account of it prior to receipt of
such notice from the client.
B.

OWNERSHIP OF DOCUMENTS
All reports, drawings, specifications, computer files, field data and other documents prepared by the P.S.O.
are instruments of service and shall remain the property of the P.S.O. The client shall not reuse or make any
modification to the instruments of service without the written permission of the P.S.O. The client agrees to
defend, indemnify and hold harmless the P.S.O. from all claims, damages, liabilities and costs, including
attorneys’ fees, arising from reuse or modification of the instruments of service by the client or any person
or entity that acquires or obtains the instruments of service from or through the client.

C. ESTIMATES
Since the P.S.O. has no control over the cost of labor and materials, or over competitive bidding and market
conditions, the estimates of construction cost provided for herein are to be made on the basis of his
experience and qualifications, but the P.S.O. does not guarantee the accuracy of such estimates as
compared to the Contractor's bid or the project construction cost.
D. INSURANCE
The P.S.O. agrees to procure and maintain insurance at the P.S.O.'s expense, such insurance as will protect
him and the client from claims under the Workmen's Compensation Act and from claims for bodily injury,
death or property damage which may arise from the negligent performance by the P.S.O. or his
representative.
E.

INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR
The P.S.O. agrees that in accordance with its status as an independent contractor, it will conduct itself with
such status, that it will neither hold itself out as nor claim to be an officer or employee of the client, by
reason hereof, and that it will not by reason hereof make any claim, demand or application to or for any
right or privilege applicable to an officer or employee of the client, including, but not limited to, Workmen's
Compensation coverage, unemployment insurance benefits or Social Security coverage.

John Goodwin, City Manager
City of Canandaigua
RE: CONSOLIDATED FUNDING APPLICATION
May 31, 2022
Page 5
F.

SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS
The client and the P.S.O. each binds himself and his partners, successors, executors, administrators and
assigns to the other party of this Agreement and to the partners, successors, executors, administrators and
assigns of such other party, in respect to all covenants of this Agreement; except as above, neither the
client nor the P.S.O. shall assign, submit or transfer his interest in this Agreement without the written consent
of the other.

G. P.S.O. NOT RESPONSIBLE FOR SAFETY PROVISIONS
The P.S.O. is not responsible for construction means, methods, techniques, sequences or procedures, time
of performance, programs, or for any safety precautions in connection with the construction work. The
P.S.O. is not responsible for the Contractor's failure to execute the work in accordance with the Contract
Drawings and/or Specifications.
H. INVOICES AND PAYMENT
Client will pay MRB Group, Engineering, Architecture, Surveying, D.P.C. for services in respect of the period
during which Services are performed in accordance with the fee structure and work estimate set forth in
the proposal. Invoices will be submitted on a periodic basis, or upon completion of Services, as indicated
in the proposal or contract. All invoices are due upon receipt. Any invoice remaining unpaid after 30 days
will bear interest from such date at 1.5 percent per month or at the maximum lawful interest rate, if such
lawful rate is less than 1.5 percent per month. If client fails to pay any invoice when due, MRB may, at any
time, and without waiving any other rights or claims against Client and without thereby incurring any liability
to Client, elect to terminate performance of Services upon ten (10) days prior written notice by MRB to
client. Notwithstanding any termination of Services by MRB for non-payment of Invoices, Client shall pay
MRB in full for all Services rendered by MRB to the date of termination of Services plus all interest and
termination costs and expenses incurred by MRB that are related to such termination. Client shall be liable
to reimburse MRB for all costs and expenses of collection, including reasonable attorney’s fees.
I.

FEES REQUIRED FROM JURISDICTIONAL AGENCIES
MRB Group, D.P.C. is not responsible for nor does the Compensation Schedule established in the
Agreement include fees or payments required of jurisdictional agencies. The client herein agrees to pay
all application, entrance, recording and/or service fees required by said agencies.

J.

P.S.O. NOT AN EMPLOYEE
The P.S.O. agrees not to hold himself out as an officer, employee or agent of the Owner, nor shall he make
any claim against the Owner as an officer, employee or agent thereof for such benefits accruing to said
officers, employees or agents.

K. INDEMNITY
The Owner will require any Contractor and Subcontractors performing the work to hold it harmless and
indemnify and defend the Owner and P.S.O., their officers, employees and agents from all claims resulting
from the Contractor's negligence in the performance of the work.

